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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board” or the “Directors”) of
China New Economy Fund Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December
2020 (the “Year").

The Company is a closed-ended investment company established on
1 February 2010. By investing substantially in both private and public
enterprises within a diversified portfolio supported by the new economies
of Greater China, the Company is devoted to achieving long-term capital
appreciation for professional investors.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

During the Year, the Company maintained a long-term investment
strategy in both public and private equities. The Company held eighteen
investments in Hong Kong-listed companies, one investment in Australia-
listed company, four private equity securities investments and three
promissory notes as of 31 December 2020. One of our major investments
is in the financial services sector focusing on the Hong Kong market. The
Company reported net loss attributable to shareholders of HK$31,106,691
during the Year, which consisted of the net change in fair value of
HK$23,661,821 taken on the investment positions in the portfolio.

The net asset value per share of the Company decreased during the
Year alongside with the slowdown in the Chinese economy and the
rising volatility of the global stock market due to the global pandemic.
As at 31 December 2020, the Company reported an audited net asset
value of approximately HK$0.12 per share. The net loss is mainly
attributable to both net realised loss of HK$33,116,554 (Listed securities:
loss of HK$31,974,470; unlisted securities: loss of HK$1,142,084)
and net unrealised gain of HK$9,454,733 (Listed securities: gain of
HK$12,982,733; unlisted securities: loss of HK$3,528,000) on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as a result of recent Hong Kong
stock market volatility. The Company will continue to monitor investments
cautiously due to recent uncertain market conditions.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

During the Year, even though the issues of China-US trade frictions and
local political issues were cooled down, the outbreak of the Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (the "COVID-19") had a huge impact to the entire world.
Starting from the beginning of the year 2020, the global economy was
deeply dampened.

In response to the impact of the COVID-19, China has adopted strict public
health measures and actions including the travel restrictions to restrain
the spread of the epidemic. These actions made an effective result and
restored business activities in various industries in the second half of the
Year. The overall national economy is slowing down in all countries over
the world, except China. According to the data of the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, the gross domestic product (“GDP") of China in year
2020 increased to RMB101,598.6 billion over the corresponding period,
which represents an increase of 2.3% compared with the year 2019. The
GDP of the first quarter of 2020 dropped 6.8% and climbed up by 3.2%,
4.9% and 6.5% in the rest of the quarters in 2020 respectively on a year-
to-year basis.

Hang Seng Index dropped 3.4% in year 2020. At the same time, Hang
Seng Chinese Enterprises Index, which reduced 3.8%, performed worse
than Hang Seng Index. On the other hand, the US Federal Reserve Board
(the "US Federal Reserve”) cut interest rates twice in March by 1.5
percentage point as total. Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in US’ millions
of people were infected and hundred thousands of people were killed by
COVID-19, these impacts slowed down the GDP growth in US straightly. It
left lots of uncertainties in the market.

The Company expects that the US Federal Reserve will be more cautious
about changing of interest rate but there are not much room for further
reduction by the end of 2021, since US Federal Reserve cut the Fed Funds
rate to nearly zero in March 2020, or even interest hike once in 2021. The
Company believes that the change in global monetary policies will escalate
the volatility extremely in global equity market. Since the market already
priced in the impact of COVID-19 in year 2020 and the vaccine started
shipping to different countries in first quarter of 2021, if the epidemic
would be under control, investment market may occur a bounce by the
end of year 2021. Therefore, the Company remains cautiously optimistic
on the prospects of securities market in China and Hong Kong.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2020
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The focus of the Company is to invest in listed securities in short to medium
terms and will continue to seek opportunities to invest in listed companies
with high potential. During the Year, the Company has further invested in
several listed companies in Hong Kong including high yield China leading
5G telecommunication service provider like China Mobile Limited (941.HK)
and China Telecom Corporation Limited (728.HK).

The other focus of the Company is to invest in private equity securities
and other unlisted investments in long term. The Company believes this
strategy can diversify the risk of investments and will potentially bring
greater return in long run with the upcoming reform alongside with
listed investments in portfolio. During the Year, the largest investment in
private equities is Gransing Financial Group Limited (“Gransing Financial”)
which is principally engaged in provision of quality brokerage, corporate
finance, asset management, money lending and financial adviser services
to institutional and individual investors in Hong Kong and Mainland China
through its subsidiaries. With the enhancement of artificial intelligence
("A.l.") technology, Gransing Financial launched several new services
including the online account opening services for new customers in
Hong Kong and China. Gransing Financial’s A.l. analyst would serve their
clients with stock monitoring, investment strategies and stock scoring
services. Even though the Company had no new private equity investment
in the Year, the Company will continue to look for further investment
opportunities in private equities. In the near future, the Company will
continue to look for further investment opportunities in private equities
focusing on health care (including High-Technology and Online Medical) as
well as telecommunication (including Internet of Things) sectors.

With our professional investment and risk management team, we are
confident to capture valuable investment opportunities to maximise profit
for our shareholders. The Company will continue to deploy an investment
strategy focusing on Greater China and other global major markets.

Gu Xu
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis
IR AT

INVESTMENT REVIEW

The Company held twenty-six investments as of 31 December 2020,
comprising eighteen equity securities in Hong Kong-listed companies, one
equity security in Australia-listed company, four private equity securities
and three promissory notes.

Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Rule 21.12 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Company discloses its ten largest
investments and all individual investments with value exceeding 5% of the
Company’s gross assets with brief description of the investee companies as
follows:

At 31 December 2020

Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong

RELE

AARF2020F 12 A31HEA Z+EEK
B ERRETN\EEELTARERES
—IEREM EMAREEES  WWIELERER
FRETAEHBE -

REBEHEXZMARAAFHF LHHRA
(TEMHRA) B21 12T AR E - AAF]
BRETESARERAMBERNEEBROARA
BIREES% MIRE  ERMREARNER
T

7202012 A31H

LHREES &

Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company ~ theYear  Company
BER
kB AER 07 RAEE  HADT
FRERT  RELA s/ EiEEE Blk/ hgE
FRELRER HMEIHE RFE KL AR e (B8) BE EUWRE BAlL
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Bsx1) (Fr3k2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER ThT TR ThT
(3)  CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 23,095,000 321% 4083 4,388 305 HK$0.49 million - 5.65
ordinary shares of
HK$0.04 each
SEERERERLA REES 23,095,0001% 490,000
BRERE BT
004%T2
(b)  InvesTech Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 41,090,000 2.93% 6,990 3,780 (3,210) RMB15.59 million - 487
ordinary shares of
US0.02 each
AABRERLE REES 41,090,000 ARH
BRER 15,590,0007¢
002X
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T B AT

Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of investee's Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company  theYear  Company
2ER
EBf AER E0F RAEE HALT
FRERT  RELR s/ EiFEE B/ hgE
FRELREM MBS Ry ERLA B e (B8) BE EUWRE BAl
(Note 1) (Note 2)
tiEa)) i)
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TR ThT TR ThT
() China Mobile Limited Hong Kong 80,000 - 4678 3,536 (1,142) RMB4.49 million 260 456
ordinary shares
hEBHARA B 80,000 A%
Lk 4,490,000
(d)  Finsoft Financial Investment The Cayman Islands 75,350,000 5.98% 4369 2,863 (1,506)  HK$7.27 million - 369
Holdings Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.005 each
B RRELRARLA REES 75,350,0001% 7,270,000
EREB0.005ET BT
LEBR
(&) Town Health International Bermuda 29,114,000 0.39% 41835 2,795 (39,040) HK$14.74 million - 360
Medical Group Limited ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
RRAREEEEERAT BRE 29,114,0001% 14,740,000
BREEV0ET BT
LEER
(f)  SEM Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 33,660,000 1.68% 3573 2,726 (847)  MOP4.20 million - 351
ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
RERRAERLA REES 33,660,000 gk
SREBOIET 4,200,0007C

B EREBR AR / F1R 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis
IR AT

Listed Equity Security — Australia

i a a - N

Proportion Dividend % of
of Net liability ~ received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised  aftributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company  theYear ~ Company
BB
LR A% ARE REEE fRRE
FECET  REAT ks -1 B/ BgE
FRELALR AmRIEY LUES S-St RE [ (58) BE EURS Bl
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Rizt1) (zk2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén  TEn TERL T
(9 Crater Gold Mining Limited Australia 35,000,000 2.85% 2,669 3,131 462 AUD(0.15) - 403
ordinary shares million
2 35,000,000/% (150,000
Lk A
Private Equity Security — British Virgin Islands REREES -REBEELHE
Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particularof  investee’s Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised Company ~ theYear ~ Company
BB
2 RER AT REEE AERRF
FEERT  RELR k& EHEE BR/  #EE
FRENEER AL Ritits  EXLA 8 W (E8) BE RURE BAL
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(Mizk1) (Mzk2)
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS$'000
TiEn T TEn TiEL
() Gransing Financial Group Limited British Virgin Islands 48 shares of 15.53% 42,799 14,068 (28.731) HK$19.79 - 18.13
USD1 each million
EReREERRAA AERAHE wREhAaE 19,790,000
(IBSHEREEERAR) 1% RiA BT
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T B AT

Private Equity Security - Hong Kong REREZS—EE
Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particularof ~ investee's Unrealised ~attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value  recognised  Company theYear  Company

31 4

RAH RER ARE REEE fADR
FBCET  REAF e/ BERE g/ BeE
FRELALR AL Ritits  E&MLH B i (68) BE ERRR Al

(Note 1) (Note 2)
(FzE1) (x2)

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn TEL TEn TEL
() Help U Credit Finance Limited Hong Kong 37,000 19.95% 19,000 6,390 (126100 HK$14.00 - 8.23
shares million
EARBERAR (30 37,000% 14,000,000
&t BT
Promissory Note - Hong Kong RAZE-FE
% of
Interest gross
Unrealised received/ assets
Place of Market gain/(loss) Yield per Maturity  accrued during of the
Name of investee incorporation Cost value recognised annum date the Year Company
REEE AR
BRAKER Bl/ hgE
FRENTER AmRIEY 28 HE k(58 Fhiz E)f: EiAIE ARl
(Note 1)
(Bt1)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 % HK$'000
TEn TEn TExn AL
() Gransing Finance Limited Hong Kong 15,000 15,000 - 8 12 May 2021 766 1933
ARERARAT B 021458128

(HBSREERRAR)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R W AT

At 31 December 2019

Listed Equity Securities - Hong Kong

R2019%F 128318

L REEE &

Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised ~ attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value recognised  Company  theyear  Company
B
BAH A5 ADF  REEE  fA0F
fisegn  REAA ki, EkEE B/  #EE
FREADAR A Rt#t  EARLA A mE (58) BE  RURS BAl
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(W&E3) (W)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS$'000
T T T T
Kin Pang Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 49,820,000 4.98% 19,852 10,263 (9589)  MOP11.40 - 14.24
ordinary shares of million
HKS$0.01 each
BEERERAR REHS 49,820,000 %% palska
shak 11,400,000
001872 T
Tk
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited The Cayman lslands 49,710,000 497% 9830 8,943 (882)  HK$3.13 - 12.41
ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
EEEESRERAD REEE 49,7100008% 3,130,000
SHE A7
001872
Lk
Power Financial Group Limited Bermuda 75,420,000 2.71% 15,159 6,863 (829)  HK$39.75 - 952
ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
EFSHEEERAT ARE 75,420,000 39,750,000
Rk A
0018712
til)
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T B AT

Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value recognised  Company  theyear  Company
BB
BHk AER AT REEE FERRF
FEERT RELR ki, EkEE B/  #EE
FiREARER AL hiFE AR 28 mE (58) BE RURE BAL
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(WiE3) (W)
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS$'000
TiEL TEn TiEL TiEL
Century Ginwa Retall Holdings Limited Bermuda 22,412,000 1.95% 6,097 4953 (1,744)  RMB71.08 - 6.87
ordinary shares of million
HKS0.1 each
LS EARARARAA BRE 22,412,000/ N
shak 71,080,000
0.1ETL T
LRk
Town Health International Medical Group Bermuda 29,114,000 0.39% 41,835 3173 (38,662)  HK$15.66 73 440
Limited ordinary shares of million
HK$0.01 each
FRERBEZERRAA BRE 29,114,000/ 15,660,000
FREE A
00112
ot
InvesTech Holdings Limited The Cayman Islands 15,216,000 1.08% 3,167 2,754 (413)  RMB7.86 - 382
ordinary shares of million
US80.02 each
AABRARAT GELL 15,216,000 ARH
shak 7,860,000
002ETL
Eril)

B EREBR AR / F1R 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E R W AT

Listed Equity Securities — Australia

i a a - N

Proportion Netasset/  Dividend % of
of (liability)  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised ~ attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value recognised  Company  theyear  Company
BB
Bk AER AR RMREE KL
fisedf  REMA bE/ EEEE/ B/ BgE
FrREARAR RlNEE RfiFE  ERLH 28 mE (BR) (BRIRE RURS BAt
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(WiE3)  (W3E2)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Dongfang Modern Agriculture Holding Australia 803,000 0.19% 3,91 2,219 (1,742)  RMB5.40 - 3.08
Group Limited ordinary shares million
RhERRRERERARAA i 803,000 ARH
EER 5,400,000
Crater Gold Mining Limited Australia 35,000,000 2.85% 2,609 2,105 (564)  AUD(0.03) - 292
ordinary shares million
AN 35,000,008 (30,000)
Lk 2
Private Equity Security - British Virgin Islands REREES - REELHE
Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised ~ attributable  receivable assets
Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
Name of investee incorporation held owned Cost value recognised  Company  theyear  Company
BB
RAH FER AAF RMREE ARLE
FRCEG  RELR bE/ EEEE B/ BeE
FiREAR AR ALY BfiFE AR RE mE (58) BE  RYRE BAt
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(W&E3) (W)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tt T T
Gransing Financial Group Limited British Virgin Islands 48 shares of 15.53% 42,799 17,133 (25,666)  HK$23.53 - 377
USDT each million
SREREEERAT RERAES BEEREE 23,530,000
1€ & o
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S T B AT

Private Equity Security — Hong Kong

RERBEEZ-EE

Proportion Dividend % of
of Netasset  received/ gross
Particular of  investee's Unrealised  attributable  receivable assets
Name of investee Place of issued shares capital Market  gain/(loss) to the during of the
incorporation held owned Cost value recognised  Company  theyear ~ Company
EER
BEkR AER A0F RREE ARRE
fiRoEG RELR bE/ EEEE B/ agE
FiRERE%EM MBS Ryt B RE mE (58) BE EUWRE BAt
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(Wak3)  (W3t2)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Thn TiEn T
Help U Credit Finance Limited Hong Kong 37,000 shares 19.95% 19,000 6,530 (12470)  HK$14.46 - 9.06
million
EARBARAT B 37,000 B4 14,460,000
BT
Notes: B 5
(1) The unrealised gain/(loss) recognised represented the changes in fair value of the (1)  BEHERAFRWE (BB EAFESEREZ A
respective investments during the Year. FEEH -
(2)  The calculation of net asset/(liability) attributable to the Company is based on the latest ~ (2) ~ AQFELEE(BE) FENRIEEERERE
published reports of the respective investments at the end of each reporting period. WEMRAHERAHAREFTE -
(3)  The unrealised loss recognised represented the changes in fair value of the respective  (3) CERAEEGEIERE2019F 128310 1LFE

investments during the year ended 31 December 2019.

EERE ATEED -

BT

i
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A brief description of the business and financial information of the

investments is as follows:

(a)

CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited (“CROSSTEC"), is a Hong Kong-
based investment holding company, along with its subsidiaries, is
principally engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture and facade
fabrication, as well as the provision of interior design, project
consultancy and interior solutions services. The unaudited loss
attributable to shareholders of CROSSTEC for the six months ended
31 December 2020 was approximately HK$3,755,000 and the
unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of CROSSTEC as
at 31 December 2020 was approximately HK$15,340,000. In 2020,
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic keeps leading to the suspension
of overseas business activities of Asia, US, Middle East, United
Kingdom and other European countries, which adversely affected
CROSSTEC's overseas business. In view of the gradual recovery from
the COVID-19 pandemic upon the available of vaccine, CROSSTEC
is putting more effort to resume the overseas business. The fair
value of the investment in CROSSTEC is based on quoted market bid
prices.

InvesTech Holdings Limited (“InvesTech”), is an investment holding
company principally engaged in the design, development and
provision of communication system, as well as the manufacture and
sales of signal transmission and connectivity products. The unaudited
loss attributable to shareholders of InvesTech for the six months
ended 30 June 2020 was approximately RMB66,595,000 and the
unaudited net assets attributable to shareholders of InvesTech as
at 30 June 2020 was approximately RMB532,649,000. InvesTech
will develop and upgrade its mobile office automation (the “OA")
software continuously, actively explore new business application
and solutions, and enhance its competitiveness and accelerate the
distribution channel of OA software. The fair value of the investment
in InvesTech is based on quoted market bid prices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

China Mobile Limited (“China Mobile”) is an investment holding
company principally engaged in telecommunication and related
businesses. The audited profit attributable to shareholders of China
Mobile for the year ended 31 December 2020 was approximately
RMB107,843 million and the audited net assets attributable
to shareholders of China Mobile as at 31 December 2020 was
approximately RMB1,148,916 million. COVID-19 affected all aspects
of life, while the digital transformation of the economy and society
further accelerated. China Mobile took steps to accelerate the shift
toward online, intelligence and the cloud, and cultivated greater
value by leveraging the scale of their business and promoting the
balance. The fair value of the investment in China Mobile is based on
quoted market bid prices.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Finsoft”) is principally
engaged in the provision of financial trading software solutions.
The audited loss attributable to shareholders of Finsoft for the year
ended 31 December 2020 was approximately HK$49,111,000 and
the audited net assets attributable to shareholders of Finsoft as at
31 December 2020 was approximately HK$121,589,000. Finsoft
hoped Hong Kong economy will rebound in light of the recent
launch of the COVID-19 Vaccination Programme in Hong Kong
and the re-opening of Hong Kong-China border in future. Finsoft
will continue to strive for excellence in its products and services in
order to maintain its competitiveness and enhance its growth in the
fintech industry. The fair value of the investment in Finsoft is based
on quoted market bid prices.

B E S W AT

PRI EER AR ([REZE]) &—H
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o B ZE2020E12A31MBILFEEF
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Town Health International Medical Group Limited (“Town Health"”)
is an investment holding company principally engaged in the
provision of medical services. The audited loss attributable to
shareholders of Town Health for the year ended 31 December 2020
was approximately HK$281,038,000 and the audited net assets
attributable to shareholders of Town Health as at 31 December
2020 was approximately HK$3,810,481,000. The trading of shares
of Town Health has been suspended since 27 November 2017
and resumed trading since 1 March 2021. The outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic since January 2020 has significantly affected
the business operation of Town Health, causing decline in revenue
of Town Health for year 2020. Facing the severe challenges posed
by the outbreak of the pandemic, Town Health flexibly adjusted its
operation and management strategies, expanded revenue sources
and reduced expenditures and strictly controlled costs. The fair
value of the investment in Town Health is based on valuation by
independent valuer.

SEM Holdings Limited (“SEM") is an investment holding company
principally engaged in the provision of electrical and mechanical
("E&M") engineering works. The unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of SEM for the six months ended 30 June 2020
was approximately MOP6,463,000 and the unaudited net assets
attributable to shareholders of SEM as at 30 June 2020 was
approximately MOP249,619,000. The Macau Government has
promoted the construction of Smart City, ranging from hospitality
facilities, transportation management to telecommunications and
5G network. The sustained renovations in urban renewal and
upgrade of buildings will be expected, meaning the potential
market in future coming years and thus, SEM is optimistic about the
E&M market of Macau in the coming years. The fair value of the
investment in SEM is based on quoted market bid prices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Crater Gold Mining Limited (“Crater Gold Mining”) is principally
engaged in producing gold and developing gold and base metal
projects in Papua New Guinea and Australia. The unaudited loss
attributable to shareholders of Crater Gold Mining for the six months
ended 31 December 2020 was approximately AUD1,699,686
and the unaudited net liabilities attributable to shareholders of
Crater Gold Mining as at 31 December 2020 was approximately
AUDS5,300,037. Crater Gold Mining is well positioned to continue
to grow through acquisition and improving the performance of their
existing plantations. The fair value of the investment in Crater Gold
Mining is based on quoted market bid prices.

Gransing Financial Group Limited (“Gransing Financial”) is
principally engaged in provision of quality brokerage, corporate
finance, asset management, money lending and financial adviser
services to institutional and individual investors in Hong Kong and
Mainland China through its subsidiaries. With the enhancement of
A.l. technology, Gransing Financial launched several new services
included the online account opening services for new customers
in Hong Kong and China. Moreover, by the help of advanced
intelligent technology, Gransing Financial's A.l. analyst would serve
their clients with stock monitoring, investment strategies and stock
scoring services. All the above would improve Gransing Financial’s
operation efficiency and earn more new potential clients. The fair
value of the investment in Gransing Financial is based on valuation by
independent valuer.

Help U Credit Finance Limited (“Help U") is principally engaged in
money lending business in Hong Kong. Help U is a licensed money
lender and provides secured and unsecured loans to both individuals
and corporations. The fair value of the investment in Help U is based
on valuation by independent valuer.

Gransing Finance Limited (”Gransing Finance”) is engaged in the
provision of money lending. Gransing Finance is held by Gransing
Financial and which is the sole director of Gransing Finance. The fair
value of the investment in Gransing Finance is based on valuation by
management of the Company.

B E S W AT
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B E R W AT

The top three investments with realised gain and loss for the Year are

summarised as below:

Top three realised gain for the Year

Name of investment

RAFEHRBEEHE WS MBIBZ = AIRER
MR

TEE=ZARCEBEKE

Realised gain

REER B % B W
HK$'000

FAET

Beaver Group (Holding) Company Limited KENE B ERR) BRA A 382
China Telecom Corporation Limited FREEERNHEBERAA 112
Vesync Company Limited Vesync Company Limited 12

Top three realised loss for the Year

Name of investment

KEFE=ARBSERER

Realised loss

REZRE EREEE
HK$'000
FAT
Kin Pang Holdings Limited ZIEERER AR 13,875
Power Financial Group Limited EHERERBR QA 8,007
Century Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited i S EHEERBR A A 3,482
LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING #iE¥¢  -HEERREESRELL
=2
b4

The Company has maintained a sufficient cash position which will allow it
to capture opportunities with promising returns in both listed and private

equities.

As at 31 December 2020, the gearing ratio, defined as total debts divided
by shareholders’ equities, was 6.6% (31 December 2019: 14.2%). As at
31 December 2020, the Company has margin payable to securities brokers
of HK$4,659,540 with interest rate approximately 2.6% per annum (31
December 2019: HK$8,718,501 with interest rate 12% per annum).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
Year (2019: Nil).

CHARGES ON COMPANY’S ASSET AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had pledged Hong Kong listed
securities of approximately HK$11 million to secure the margin payables to
the securities broker (31 December 2019: HK$40 million).

There were no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020 (31
December 2019: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On the listing date on 6 January 2011, the Company completed a share
placement and a total of 303,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each
were placed at a price of HK$1.03 per share for a total cash consideration,
excluding the related issue expenses, for approximately HK$312.1 million.
Subsequent to the listing, the Company had acquired additional capital
by completion of rights issue and placing of new shares under general
mandate. As at 31 December 2020, the capital of the Company comprises
of 600,149,228 ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each.

SHARE CONSOLIDATION AND CHANGE IN BOARD
LOT SIZE

During the Year, the Company completed share consolidation of every
four issued and unissued share of par value HK$0.01 each into one
consolidated share of par value of HK$0.04, the authorised share capital
of the Company became HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000
consolidated shares of HK$0.04 each, of which 347,061,698 consolidated
shares had been in issue, the board lot size for trading on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”) changed from 20,000
shares to 10,000 consolidated shares. Details of the share consolidation
and change in board lot size were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 3 March 2020 and 3 April 2020, and circular dated 16
March 2020.

B E S W AT
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RIGHTS ISSUE

Rights Issue on the basis of one rights share for every one
consolidated share on a non-underwritten basis

During the Year, the Company had raised an approximately HK$39.6
million, net of expenses, by way of the rights issue of 253,087,530 rights
shares to the qualifying shareholders at a subscription price of HK$0.16
per rights share on the basis of one rights share for every one consolidated
shares (closing price of the shares of the Company was HK$0.22 as at the
date of announcement of the rights issue). The Company had applied such
net proceeds from the rights issue for repayment of margin payable to
brokers, working capital and investment (including but not limited to the
medical and telecommunication sectors) in line with its ordinary course of
business.

Details of the rights issue were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 3 March 2020 and 11 May 2020, circular dated 16 March
2020 and prospectus dated 21 April 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed
shares during the Year (2019: Nil).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2020, the Company made no capital expenditure or
any other commitments (31 December 2019: Nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

During the Year, the Company did not acquire or dispose of any
subsidiaries or associated companies (2019: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company has twenty-six investments as of 31 December 2020,
comprising of equity securities listed in Hong Kong and Australia, private
equities and promissory notes. The largest one held by the Company is in
the financial services sector focusing in the Hong Kong market.

The rest of the net proceeds gained will be applied by the Board and
the New Investment Manager in making investments according to the
investment objective, policies and restrictions of the Company and the
requirements of the Articles of Association of the Company, the Listing
Rules and the investment management agreement. Any proceeds not
deployed are placed in bank deposits or invested in money market
instruments or money market funds.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had seven full-time employees
(31 December 2019: five full-time employees). All of the Company’s
employees were based in Hong Kong.

The Company establishes its remuneration policy by making reference to
the prevailing market conditions and a performance-based reward system.
The policy is periodically reviewed. Apart from mandatory provident
fund, salaries increment, discretionary bonuses and share options may
be awarded to employees according to the assessment of individual
performance.

The total remuneration cost incurred by the Company for the Year was
approximately HK$3,132,616 (2019: HK$3,370,125).

FOREIGN CURRENCY FLUCTUATION

The Board believes that foreign exchange risks are minimal as the
Company mainly uses the Hong Kong dollar to carry out its business
transactions.

B E S W AT

FRBRIERR

ARARF2020F 12 A31HEA Z+EE
B HABREREBRMN M2 #RSES
LERERALER - ARABIF&RA—ER
FERBETMEN SR RIBIRIE -

RSB ERRFERHETE RAREETEA
RBEARRBILE BT - BER KR FIFAQEIHE
BERADR - EMRRREERHENRE
EITRE - REANER A ERIBESFIERIT
FRIREREETISTARERTHES -

BE KM BUR

R2020F 12 A31H - ARABELtEERES
(2019F : AZ2REER) - AARIMEREE
BAEB BIREH

ARBRFIFTHFHBREELERITM N —
EREMERGIE - I E AT XK o FRoa

RSN  RATINT RBEARRIZ
Tk T B T % - W 7EA R -

RAFE ARREENLEHEINKAN B
3,132,616 7L (20194F : 3,370,125/ 87T) °

NS B B

BEZeRR BHRARFETEEAETETE
BR5  HHMNERBRARHL o

B EREBR AR / F1R 2020

23



24

Management Discussion and Analysis
IR AT

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”)
established in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chong Ching Hoi (being the chairman
with professional qualifications in accountancy), Mr. Leung Wai Lim and
Mr. Sun Boquan.

The summary of duties and works of the Audit Committee is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board hereby announces that the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 25 May 2021 to Friday, 28 May 2021, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (“AGM"), all transfers of shares, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 24 May 2021.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gu Xu (“Mr. Gu"), aged 56, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, is responsible for the provision of leadership to the
Board and the Company’s business development and daily management
generally. Mr. Gu was appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
on 28 May 2015 and has been appointed as executive Director of the
Company since 25 November 2010. Mr. Gu completed a bachelor’s degree
majoring in Economics from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics
in 1986. He further received a master’s degree majoring in Economics from
the same university in 1989 and a master's degree majoring in Business
Administration awarded jointly by Fudan University and The University of
Hong Kong in 2003. Mr. Gu has accumulated 25 years’ experience in asset
management, investment and financial management in both financial
conglomerate and private company. He is the chairman of /88 2% &
‘& 12 4 [ /A & (Shanghai Dongsheng Investment Management Co., Ltd.).
Mr. Gu has been appointed as independent supervisor of /1 & FiiH € 1%
3 B BR A A (Suzhou Financial Leasing Co., Ltd) in May 2016. Mr. Gu was
an independent non-executive director of COSCO SHIPPING Development
Co., Ltd. (2866.HK), a company listed both in Hong Kong and Shanghai,
from March 2018 to August 2019. Furthermore, Mr. Gu was the president
of Henan Zhong Yuan Lian Chuang Investment Fund Management
Company Limited from October 2015 to December 2018.

Profiles of Directors
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Profiles of Directors

i

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee ("Mr. Chan”), aged 57, has been appointed
as an executive Director since 1 June 2013. Mr. Chan is the managing
director of Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Chan is
currently a licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities) and
type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO").
Mr. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of
Business Administration of The University of South Florida in the United
States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in securities, fund
management, corporate management, corporate finance and managing
listed investment companies under Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules. Mr.
Chan is currently an executive director of China Innovation Investment
Limited (1217.HK), China Investment and Finance Group Limited (1226.
HK), China Investment Development Limited (204.HK), Capital VC Limited
(2324.HK) and Core Economy Investment Group Limited (339.HK), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Chan was re-designated as an non-executive director of China Trend
Holdings Limited (8171.HK) on 1 December 2020, a company listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange. He was an executive director of Alpha
Returns Group PLC, an investment company listed on AIM of London Stock
Exchange, from May 2013 to April 2018. Mr. Chan was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Bingo Group Holdings Limited
(8220.HK) in August 2007, and redesignated as an executive director
from April 2009 to September 2018. He was also an executive director of
National Investments Fund Limited (in liquidation) (1227.HK) before the
winding up order was granted against the company on 8 February 2021.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Dingben (“"Mr. Wang”), aged 44, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director since 9 June 2020. Mr. Wang has over 10 years
of extensive experience in commercial and capital markets in Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Southeast Asia. He is currently a director of Henghe
Investment Development Group (Cambodia) Company Limited, a company
engaged in real estate investment, property development and hotel
management in Cambodia.

Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard ("Mr. Chow"), aged 63, has been
appointed as a non-executive Director since 9 June 2020. Mr. Chow
is a Certified Public Accountant with over 30 years of experience
in accounting, auditing and taxation. He is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong,
the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and the Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chow is also a Barrister of
England and Wales. He holds a Master Degree in Business Administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau. Mr. Chow has been appointed
as a non-executive director of CIL Holdings Limited (479.HK), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange since April 2010. He
has been appointed as directors of a number of subsidiaries of Sun Wah
Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi (“Mr. Chong”), aged 38, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since 22 December 2017. He is the
chairman of each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
as well as a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a bachelor degree of Business Administration in
Accounting in November 2004. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. He has more than 13 years of experience
in audit, accounting, financial reporting and compliance. Mr. Chong is
currently the chief financial officer and company secretary of Hao Bai
International (Cayman) Limited (“HBIC") (8431.HK), a company listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange. He has joined HBIC since March 2016
and is responsible for its compliance and corporate governance, preparing
group’s consolidated financial statements as well as reviewing and
implementing effective financial policies and internal control procedures.
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Mr. Leung Wai Lim (“Mr. Leung”), aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 10 October 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Leung
obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from University of Wales in United
Kingdom in July 1995. He was admitted to practise law as a solicitor in
Hong Kong in August 1999 and in England and Wales in April 2001. Mr.
Leung is currently an independent non-executive director of Shun Wo
Group Holdings Limited (1591.HK), and Yield Go Holdings Ltd. (1796.HK),
both shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
He is an adjudicator appointed to the Panel of Adjudicators (Control of
Obscene and Indecent Articles) (established under the Control of Obscene
and Indecent Articles Ordinance (Chapter 390 of the Laws of Hong Kong)).
He is also a panel member appointed by the Secretary for Transport
and Housing to the Transport Tribunals’ Panel and a member of the
Transportation and Logistics Committee (co-option) of the Law Society of
Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Leung was a member of the Board of Review (Inland
Revenue Ordinance) in Hong Kong from 1 January 2015 to 31 December
2020. Mr. Leung has over 21 years of law related working experience. He
has been a partner of Howse Williams since May 2015. He was employed
by DLA Piper from February 2001 to April 2009 at which his last position
was partner. He was then employed by Eversheds from May 2009 to April
2015 at which his last position was partner.

Mr. Sun Boquan (“Mr. Sun”), aged 69, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director as well as a member of each of
the audit committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company since 5 June 2019. Mr. Sun has obtained a
master degree in business administration from Nan Kai University (7 7
K&, the People’s Republic of China in 2005. He was the deputy bureau
head of Tianjin Public Utility Bureau (XZM A ) in September 1997,
and was the chairman of KEM R & BB R A& (Tianjin Gas Group
Company Limited) from 2000 to 2011. During the period from August
2004 to September 2011, Mr. Sun acted as a non-executive director of
Tianjin Tianlian Public Utilities Company Limited (currently known as Tianjin
Jinran Public Utilities Company Limited), a company now listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (1265.HK). Mr. Sun was the chairman of X
SR A 1 € (Tianjin Gas Society) and the vice chairman of /1 B /A & 22
& (China Gas Society) from 2011 to 2013. Mr. Sun was an independent
non-executive director of Ming Hing Holdings Limited (currently known as
Peace Map Holding Limited), a company whose shares are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (402.HK), for the period from October
2006 to March 2009.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and audited financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

The Company is an exempted limited liability company, incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 1 February 2010 for the purpose of acting as a closed-
ended investment company.

The Company is principally engaged in investing globally in both private
and publicly listed enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of the mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 6 January 2011 (the “Listing Date”). The
Company had not commenced any operation or business before the
Listing Date.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the business review as required by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, including risks facing by the Company,
important events affecting the Company, that have occurred since the
end of the Year, likely future development in the Company’s business can
be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of this annual report. These discussions form part of this “Report
of the Directors”.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Company for the Year are set out in the financial
statements on pages 71 to 159.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividends for the Year
(31 December 2019: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Company for the
Year is set out on page 160.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves during the Year are set out in the
statement of changes in equity to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital during the Year are set out in
Note 23 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

The Company did not purchase, redeem or sell any of the Company’s listed
shares during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Gu Xu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Dingben (Appointed on 9 June 2020)
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard (Appointed on 9 June 2020)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chong Ching Hoi
Mr. Leung Wai Lim
Mr. Sun Boquan

In order to comply with the requirements of the code provision A.4.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code"”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules, Mr. Gu Xu, Mr. Wang Dingben, Mr. Chow Yeung
Tuen Richard and Mr. Leung Wai Lim shall retire at the AGM. The retiring
Directors are being eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this report are set
out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” on pages 25 to 28 of this

annual report.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Details of the fee or emoluments of Directors during the Year are set out in
Note 8 to the financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Company’s operations. The Company has not entered
into any equity-linked agreement during the Year or there was not any
subsisting equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company at the
end of the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Company is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental
and social sustainable development. As a responsible enterprise, the
Company is in compliance with all the material relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong in terms of the environmentally friendliness,
health as well as safety and adopts effective measures, conserves energy
and reduces waste.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company’s operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and
accordingly shall comply with material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong. During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Company has complied with all the material relevant laws and regulations
in Hong Kong.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director of the
Company together with every former Director of the Company shall
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against any liability,
action, proceeding, claim, demand, costs, damages or expenses, including
legal expenses, whatsoever which they or any of them may incur in the
execution of their office or otherwise in relation thereto. During the Year,
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liabilities insurance coverage had
been arranged in respect of legal action that might be taken against the
Directors and officers of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM has
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation (if any).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the “Investment Management Agreement” mentioned below,
no contracts of significance, to which the Company was a party and in
which any Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save the respective Investment Management Agreement and Potential
Conflicts of Interest disclosed on pages 37 to 39 of the Report of the
Directors, the Company has not entered into any contract with any
individuals, firms or corporate entities to manage or regulate the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company a party to any arrangements
to enable the Directors of the Company or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 1 June 2015, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 28 May 2015.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
in issue from time to time.
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The Company operates the share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Company’s operations. The eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme are full time or part time employees of the Company
(including any directors, whether executive or non-executive and whether
independent or not, of the Company); and any business or joint venture
partners, contractors, agents or representatives, consultants, advisers,
suppliers, producers or licensors, customers, licensees (including any sub-
licensee) or distributors, landlords or tenants (including any sub-tenants) of
the Company or any person who, in the sole discretion of the Board, has
contributed or may contribute to the Company.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
shares in issue on 29 May 2017 as the Company has sought the approval
of the shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the 10% limit under
the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from 28 May 2015.

The subscription price for shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the Board, but shall not be lower than the highest
of (i) the closing price of shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date on which the Board approves the making
of the offer for the grant of options (the “Date of Grant”), which must
be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share. The time of acceptance of an offer for the grant of options shall not
be later than 21 days from the Date of Grant. A non-refundable nominal
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option.

Particulars to the Company’s Share Option Scheme are set out in Note 22
to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each of the

EERFETBRAERKS - 186
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Approximate %
Number of of issued
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Wang Dingben Beneficial Owner 68,330,000 11.39
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS'/OTHER PERSON'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

Shareholders’ Interests in Shares

As at 31 December 2020, the following person (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of

the SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each of the

Company

Name of shareholder

Capacity in which
shares are held

Report of the Directors
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B

Number of
shares held
(Direct interests)

Number of
shares held
(Indirect interests)
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Approximate %
of issued

share capital of
the Company

AR E
RGO B A RO EA ERITREZ
BRES BB RiERG 256 (EEER) (BEER) BREDL
Choi Koon Shum Interest in controlled corporation - 69,715,000 11.61
(note)
BERR St VNGIL (B EE)
Sunwah Kingsway Capital Interest in controlled corporation - 69,715,000 11.61
Holdings Limited (note)
FEEECRERERAT S VNGTL (B EE)
Festival Developments Limited Interest in controlled corporation - 69,715,000 11.61
(note)
S VNGIE (B EE)
Kingsway Lion Spur Technology Beneficial Owner 69,715,000 - 11.61
Limited
EalEA
Wang Xin Beneficial Owner 34,416,657 - 53
By EalEA
Jiang Yulun Beneficial Owner 32,340,000 - B35
B+ EalEA

Note: Kingsway Lion Spur Technology Limited (“KLSTL"), which owns 69,715,000 shares of
the Company, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Festival Developments Limited (“FDL").
FDL is wholly owned by Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (“SKCHL"). Mr.
Choi Koon Shum (“Mr. Choi”) is holding 54.83% of the issued share capital of SKCHL.
Accordingly, each of FDL, SKCHL and Mr. Choi is deemed to have interests in the

69,715,000 shares held by KLSTL pursuant to the SFO.

Ff3E : Kingsway Lion Spur Technology Limited ([ KLSTL J)
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company has
not been notified by any other persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section
“Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in shares,
underlying shares and debentures”) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Company had the following continuing connected
transactions, details of which were disclosed in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Custodian Agreement

The Company had appointed Bank of Communications Trustee Limited
(the “Custodian”) as custodian since 2019. The custodian agreement with
Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Custodian Agreement”)
was effective and will continue to be in force until terminated by either the
Company or the Custodian by giving the other party not less than 30 days
advance notice in writing.

Pursuant to the Custodian Agreement, the Company will pay the
Custodian a monthly fee of the higher of (a) the net asset value of the
portfolio of the Company at each month equal to the rate 0.04% per
annum, or (b) HK$12,500 per month.

During the Year, the total custodian fee of HK$150,866 was paid by the
Company to the Custodian.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTION

Investment Management Agreement

The Company had terminated the investment management agreement
with China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited effective on 30 November
2020 and appointed Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the
“Investment Manager”) as its new investment manager effective on 1
January 2021. Details of the new appointment can be referred to the
announcement of the Company dated 30 November 2020.

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement dated 30 November
2020 (the “Investment Management Agreement”), the Company
appointed Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited as its investment
manager to provide the Company with investment management services
for period of three years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023.
The Investment Manager is entitled to receive from the Company a
management fee accruing monthly at the annual amount of HK$600,000
and payable monthly in advance from 1 January 2021 onwards.

During the Year, the management fee of HK$550,000 was paid by the
Company.

The Investment Manager is regarded as a connected person of the
Company under Rule 21.13 of the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
service provided by the Investment Manager to the Company under the
Investment Management Agreement constituted a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ OPINION ON CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In the opinion of the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company, the terms of and the transactions contemplated
under the Investment Management Agreement and the Custodian
Agreement have been entered into after arm’s length negotiation, on
normal commercial terms, and in the ordinary course of business of the
Company, and are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Company
and the shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Company’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an
unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of
the non-exempt continuing connected transactions disclosed above by
the Company in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Currently the Investment Manager and their directors, officers and
employees provide management and advisory services to a number of
hedge funds, mutual funds and managed discretionary accounts with
similar investment objectives to the Company.

From time to time conflicts of interest may arise between the interest of
the Company and those of other clients. In such situations, the Investment
Manager will have regard to its obligations to the Company to act in the
best interests of the Company, so far as is practicable having regard also to
its obligations to the other clients.

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee is a Director of the Company and the Investment

Manager and is involved in the day-to-day operations of each of these
entities. This may give rise to conflicts of interest.
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As the overall interests of the Company and Investment Manager are
aligned, the Directors are of the view that Mr. Chan will be able to act
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. In addition,
all major decisions of each of these companies will be made by their
respective board of directors of these companies as a whole and not at the
sole discretion of Mr. Chan. In the case of the Company, this includes the
independent non-executive Directors, the executive Director, Mr. Gu Xu
and the non-executive Directors, Mr. Wang Dingben and Mr. Chow Yeung
Tuen Richard.

Mr. Chan will maintain confidentiality in respect of the information of each
of the funds managed by the Investment Manager. They are also aware
of their obligations under the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong’s Internal Control Guidelines that they are required to establish and
ensure the integrity and security of all information relevant to the business
operations of the respective entities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights in respect of the shares of
the Company under the articles of association of the Company although
there are no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Cayman
Islands.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 54,
the Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will retire at the forthcoming AGM of
the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event after the reporting period.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had seven full-time employees,
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors. Details of the fees or emoluments
of Directors in respect of their services rendered to the Company and staff
cost during the Year are set out in Note 8 and Note 9 respectively to the
financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of
this report.

On behalf of the Board

Gu Xu
Chairman
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The Board of the Company has committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that a good corporate
governance standard will provide a framework for the Company to
formulate its business strategies and policies, and manage the associated
risks through effective internal control procedures. It will also enhance the
transparency and accountability of the Company to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and creditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied most of the principles set out in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view
that throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code, save and
except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1.

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the Year, Mr. Gu Xu has been both the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He provides leadership to the
Board and is responsible for the Company’s business development and
daily management generally. The Board believes that vesting the roles
of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same individual can
provide the Company with strong and consistent leadership and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises
experienced and high-calibre individuals, with three of them being
independent non-executive Directors.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all
the Directors of the Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven members,
two of which are executive Directors, namely Mr. Gu Xu, who is the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Mr. Chan
Cheong Yee. The other five members comprise two non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wang Dingben and Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chong Ching
Hoi, Mr. Leung Wai Lim and Mr. Sun Boquan. There is no relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship)
among members of the Board. The biographical details of the Directors are
set out in the section headed “Profiles of Directors” on pages 25 to 28 of
this annual report.

The Board held six meetings during the year ended 31 December 2020.
The Board is responsible, inter alia, for establishing the investment
objective and policies of the Company, for complying with the Company’s
investment restrictions, for monitoring the Company’s performance and
for the appointing, supervising, directing and, if necessary, removing any
of the Company’s service providers, including the Investment Manager.

Current composition of the Board, including names of the independent
non-executive Directors, is disclosed in all corporate communications to
shareholders of the Company.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information and accounts
of the Company. The Directors may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the Company. The
Company will, upon request, provide separate independent professional
advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge their duties to the
Company.
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RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Company’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Company’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place. All Directors, including independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

Corporate Governance Report

/\ALII_/\-/'\-\
XBUA #& =

i

EEE BREREANEWEERNRFZ
& RANKRIE - M&K%EE%L&
ARAlz B ESSEENHEBRRBE
g Lﬂﬂﬁ”W&%gﬁim RER
EBiRMSIERAM  EBARRMNEERYE
B WHEREN 2N EIENRREE

HE - 2RE= (BEBYINTES)HAE
FEEHRLEBEEHCEEEB LR NERE
R FERBRERMEE -BIIENTES
BERRAQTNSEEEERS  WRESE
FERITE  REETHREERLBRN
T8 L F E -

He

mwm%
Jnkr )EH

|
- A
NG

=5
oo
x=
==

EEad

EZ2REREMBEREE  ER S REE
EH EWLEE AREZEkERER &
AR5 (LR REES NS ERERR) B 5
BH ZEEENRARAEMEREESEH -
ERPTESTERR -HERWALARAIBEE
EENEECBAEDNERTEERE -

EECRHEAEXERE

BEEEEBEEERNEC  UAREBITER
B IRREHESSNERRIAIEEEM -

BRFZENETHNEEZE 2RI AR
Bl NRERNSEERBARREG R EE
AR FEMRHER LR RBREAEREE N
EEMBAERERE-

EERSAQENFEZERRRNE REH
)ﬁ%ﬁ’ﬂ%ﬂ%ﬁ%&&sb ARFBEEREFTHFE
AR AIERIE - BB AR RS -

PEIFTCEIRER/R AR / F3k 2020

43



44

Corporate Governance Report

/\AL&/\-/\—\
e #& =

A summary of training received by the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2020 according to the records provided by the Directors is as
follows:

Name of Directors

RIESEMIEMH 25288 i E 2020512 A 31
BIEFEE BEZCESNEIBENT

Seminar and training on
corporate governance,
regulatory development
and other relevant topics

BERLEER BEERER

EEgE H {th AR BA 3= 7B 9 38 B R 15 I
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Gu Xu BB E 4
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee PREZE LA 4
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Wang Dingben FTAREA

(Appointed on 9 June 2020) (FA2020F 6 FOHEZT) v
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BHAEAE

(Appointed on 9 June 2020) (PA20205F6 A9 HEZ ) 4
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi sl A 4
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RWERRTE v
Mr. Sun Boquan FREzitE v

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the Year, Mr. Gu Xu has been the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. He provides leadership to the Board
and is responsible for the Company’s business development and daily
management generally. The Board believes that vesting the roles of both
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same individual can provide
the Company with strong and consistent leadership and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies. The Board believes that the balance of power and authority
is adequately ensured by the operations of the Board which comprises
experienced and high-calibre individuals, with three of them being
independent non-executive Directors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Board has at all times complied with the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to having a minimum of three independent
non-executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board)
with one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received a written annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established three committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Board committees are available to the shareholders on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

All members of each Board committee consist of non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors only and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 4 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, audit plan and relationship with
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, risk management system, internal control or other matters of
the Company. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31
December 2020 to review interim and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on the financial reporting, operational and
compliance controls, the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems, scope of work and appointment of external auditors,
and arrangements for employees to raise concerns about possible
improprieties.
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The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the
presence of the executive Directors during the Year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation) (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) determining
the terms of the specific remuneration package of the Directors and
senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving performance-
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives
resolved by the Directors from time to time. The terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out
in the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2020 to consider the relevant matters regarding
the remuneration policy and structure of the Company and the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior management
and other related matters. The Remuneration Committee also made
recommendations to the Board on the terms of service agreement of the
new non-executive Directors appointed during the Year.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategies, developing and
formulating relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects set out in the Company’s Board
Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee would also discuss and make
recommendations to the Board on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria as
set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate,
before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 December 2020 to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
to consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for
election at the AGM and to consider and recommend to the Board on the
appointment of Mr. Wang Dingben and Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard as
non-executive Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted an updated Board Diversity Policy which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and
assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee is committed
to diversity at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and industry
experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered. At present, the Nomination
Committee considered that the Board is sufficiently diverse and will review
the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and
appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the Company.
The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of
the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and
the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

o Character and integrity;

o Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

o Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the Board
and independence of the proposed independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

o Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the

selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at
general meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions as set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and
Written Employee Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosures in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RE-ELECTION

Code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code states that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The independent non-executive
Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term of 3 years,
subject to renewal after the expiry of the current term.

The circular to shareholders of the Company with notice of the AGM
contains biographical details of all the Directors proposed to be re-elected
at the meeting to enable shareholders of the Company to make an
informed decision on re-election of Directors.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AT
MEETINGS

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board Committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company held during the year
ended 31 December 2020 is set out in the table below:

EEHEERER

BREEHFEARANEE 202012 A31 81
FERTNESFENESZETEEULER
AENBRERTE

Meeting attended/held
LR/ BTEERY
Annual/
Extraordinary
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meetings

RREE/

EZE® FNZEEE HMEEEe REZEE BEAE

Executive Directors TES
Mr. Gu Xu B L £ 6/6
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BREZ LA 6/6
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Wang Dingben (Note) FT AL A (FsE)

(Appointed on 9 June 2020) (7220206 A 9H

EZRE) 2

Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard ~ BB45 2% 4 (M9 5E)

(Note) (Appointed on (R2020%6 A9H

9 June 2020) EZRE) 2

Independent Non-executive BYKHTES

Directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi AEELE A 6/6
Mr. Leung Wai Lim 2UERREA 6/6
Mr. Sun Boguan FREztE 6/6
Note:
1. Mr. Wang Dingben and Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard were appointed as non-

executive directors on 9 June 2020. The Board had not held any annual/extraordinary
general meeting after their appointment

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held meeting with
the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
for each financial year and to present the interim results, annual financial
statements, and related announcements to shareholders.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent auditors
of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 64 to
70.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are in place both at the
Company and the Investment Manager level. The Investment Manager
has in place a comprehensive risk management and internal control policy
which includes procedures requiring regular performance of various risk
analysis on the Company’s portfolio and close monitoring of the portfolio
against the Company’s investment objective, policies and restrictions.
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At the Company level, a risk committee (the “Risk Committee”) which
consists of Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, an executive Director, Chong Ching Hoi,
an independent non-executive Director and relevant staff, is responsible
for monitoring the operational and portfolio risks to the Company and
monitoring the Investment Manager including reviewing whether the
investment objectives, policies and restrictions are being followed by
the Investment Manager. In case of any deviation, the Risk Committee
will discuss deviations with the Investment Manager immediately and
monitor remedial action. For all material deviations, the Risk Committee
will formulate recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remedial
actions to be taken. The Risk Committee meets on a monthly basis, or
more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk committee member.

The Board, as supported by the Risk Committee, the Audit Committee
as well as the management, reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems, including the financial, operational and compliance
controls, for the Year, and considered that such systems are effective and
adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting and staff
qualifications, experiences and relevant resources.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the
Year is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in
this annual report.

During the Year, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s
independent auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, for audit
services is HK$500,000, and non-audit service is HK$ 11,400 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tai Man Hin Tony, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, is the
company secretary of the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and board practices and matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, Mr. Tai has undertaken not less

than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convening extraordinary general
meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (2013
Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to Article 25.3 of
the Articles of Association of the Company, general meetings shall be
convened on the written requisition of any members of the Company
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist(s),
provided that such requisitionist(s) hold(s) as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than ten per cent in the Net Asset Value of the shares
of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days from the date
of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to
be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months after the 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
Director of the Company are laid down in Article 34.3 of the Company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a Director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the Board for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a notice in writing
of the intention to propose such person for election as a Director, signed
by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed for election as
a Director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such person of
his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the registered
office of the Company. The minimum length of the period during which
such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and the period for
lodgement of such notices shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries or request to the Company, for
the attention of Company Secretary, by fax: (852) 2706 9544, or mail to
Unit 702, 7/F., 135 Bonham Strand Trade Centre, 135 Bonham Strand,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings or other general meetings.
The Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee will make
themselves available at the annual general meeting to meet with the
shareholders and answer their enquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.chinaneweconomyfund.com, where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company’s financial information, corporate governance
practices and other information are available for public access.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the conditions
and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed
and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and any final dividend
for a financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has not made any changes to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association. An up-to-date version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") report (the “ESG
Report”) has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange. In respect
of the information concerning “corporate governance”, please refer to the

relevant parts of the Company’s annual report.

The ESG Report describes the ESG performance made by the Company
during the Year. The scope of the ESG Report covers the business
operation in the management head office at Hong Kong.

The Board of the Company recognises the importance of ESG in meeting
the changing expectations of stakeholders while enhancing the value and
performance of the Company. Hence, the Board working together with
the management has taken on the overall responsibility of assessing and
identifying risks associated with ESG matters of the Company, and engage
in the mission to promote environmentally and socially sustainable culture
among all its employees to maintain long-term growth of the Company.

This culture enables the Company to formulate appropriate ESG policies
and procedures, to monitor and measure the progress of the ESG efforts,
and also to report on its performances to investors and key stakeholders.

The Company values its stakeholders and their views relating to its
businesses and environmental, social and governance issues. In order
to understand and address stakeholders’ concerns, the Company
communicates with its key stakeholders including but not limited to
investors, customers, government bodies, employees, suppliers and
communities through different channels.

In formulating operational strategies and ESG measures, the Company
takes into account the stakeholders’ expectations and strives to improve its
performance through mutual cooperation with the stakeholders, resulting
in creating greater value for the community.

The aspects and key performance indicators as defined in the ESG
Reporting Guide which were considered to be relevant and material to the
Company will be presented below.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AREA

Aspect A1: Emissions and Waste

During the Year, the Company has complied with relevant
environmental laws and regulations, including Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that has an impact relating to air and
greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions, discharges into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste of the Company
during the Year (2019: Nil).

No fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported during the Year
(2019: Nil).

Due to nature of the Company’s business, it produces no direct air
or direct GHG emissions. A small amount of GHG were emitted
indirectly during the Year from the consumption of electricity in
the office, which was supplied by power station where GHG were
directly emitted.

No hazardous waste was produced and there was no discharge
into water and land during the Year (2019: Nil). An insignificant
small amount of non-hazardous wastes were collected at the office,
which were primarily waste paper, office supplies, and domestic
wastes. Despite minimal impact to the environment, the Company
has implemented environmental-friendly measures to manage GHG
emissions and waste production as described in the later section
titled “environmental-friendly measures”.
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Scopes of GHG emissions

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Scope 1 - Direct emissions from operations that are owned or
controlled by the Company, such as the use of company

vehicle;

Scope 2 — Energy indirect emissions resulting from purchased

electricity consumed by the Company;

Scope 3 - Other indirect emissions that occur outside the
Company, including both upstream and downstream
emissions, such as methane gas generation at landfill
due to disposal of paper waste, GHG emissions due to
electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage
by government departments and business air travel by

employees.

The amount of emissions under these different GHG scopes in CO,

equivalent (“CO,e") during the Year was as follows:

BRI - g RERwmE

BEREHMZEE

851 — BARRMEELIEFZE
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NCIER TN
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8ES3 — ARAIUINELEZ HAMREE
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B AnFEHEIR R R RN
EEZFk BAFEFEE
RKEFKEFEME NS
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B R 5 k1T SR A TR ©

RAFEE  ZETRAERBHET 2
HE (A ZaREE ([ Z8iRE
EIRTAT

(Units: Tonnes of CO,e) 2020 2019
(Bfy M-S {tHEE) 2020 F 20194
Major Emission Emission

GHG emissions sources volume Intensities volume Intensities

BEREHER TERIR e BE B E mE
(Note) (Note 1)
(BifE) (GEAD)

Scope 1

g1

Direct emissions Nil - - - -

BEEBEW n

Scope 2

g2

Energy indirect emissions Purchased electricity 6.59 0.94 5.59 1.12

EENGA DIk EESE

Scope 3

g3

Other indirect emissions Disposal of paper 0.35 0.05 0.35 0.07

B fh R EERER

Total GHG emissions 6.93 0.99 5.94 1.19

REREBHNAEE

Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of
employees as at the end of the Year.

The Company generated no scope 1 emissions and an insignificant
amount of scope 3 emissions during the Year. Approximately 6.59
tonnes of scope 2 emissions was generated during the Year. The
emission has been consistent since there has been no change in the
pattern of the Company’s electricity usage.
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

As detailed in the section headed “Emissions and Waste”, electricity
consumption was a major source of indirect GHG emission during
the Year. The consumption of electricity was similar to that in the
same period in previous year. The amount of consumption by types
of energy or resources during the Year was as follows:

BEA2: ERER

WP M EERY) | — BRI - E

AAFEERZREREBIRZ T2
REEREZFRHEE RAFE &

Huﬁiéﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂm ZOHFEEMNT

2019
20194

Energy and resources Units Amount Intensities Amount Intensities
BERKER B BE RE HE TR

(Note) (Note)

GE (P &E)
Electricity kwh 8,132 1,162 6,987 1,397
g TR
Paper Kilograms 10 72 14

Aok TR

Note: Intensity is measured by dividing the relevant emissions by the number of
employees as at the end of the Year.

The Company consumes water in the office from a centralised water
and sanitation system implemented in the building. The cost of water
consumption of the Company is inclusive in the monthly rent, and
the building management does not individually measure the water
consumption of each tenant and hence no relevant data can be
collected.

Due to the nature of the Company’s business no packaging material
was used.

Paper was primarily used for office printing. During the Year, a
total of approximately 72 kg of paper was consumed, there was no
change in the usage pattern of paper compared to previous years.

Despite minimal impact to the environment, energy and resource
conservation are essential parts of the Company’s ESG strategy
which will be detailed in the later section titled “environmental-
friendly measures”.
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Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

The Company does not use any natural resources in the process of
its business, and hence the impact on the environment or natural
resources was minimal during the Year. Nonetheless the Company is
well aware of the importance in environmental protection, and has
adopted policies and a range of measures to minimise current impact
and manage any potential adverse impact in the future, persisting in
conducting our business in an environmentally responsible manner.
These policies and measures are described below.

Environmental-friendly measures

The Company has always put great emphasis on energy and resource
conservation, which is shown by its engagement in energy savings
and implementation of workplace strategies to reduce energy and
water consumptions. Accordingly, the Company has the following
measures which are regularly carried out to achieve its ESG strategy
in the course of the Company’s operations:

1. Employees are encouraged to use video/telephone
conferencing system to reduce business travel and take public
transportation wherever possible to lower environmental
impact from the burning of fossil fuel.

2. The Company has also implemented energy and water saving
practices, such as maintaining workplace temperature at a
comfortably low level with reference to the relevant standard
recommended by the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department of the Hong Kong Government to reduce energy
use.

3. Engaged in environmental-friendly measures in the workplace
in the effort to lower energy consumption, for instance,
employees of the Company are reminded to minimise their
impact on the environment and the use of natural resources
when conducting business.

4. Waste reduction measures include monitoring and recording
paper usage on a monthly basis, and promoting the use of
recycled paper and double-sided printing are actively adopted
wherever possible.

5. The Company’s efficient use of resources and waste reduction
initiatives and guidelines are stipulated in the Staff Handbook
and policies where appropriate to educate and promote ESG to
employees.
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Aspect A4: Climate Change

There is no significant climate-related issues which had impacted,
and which may impact the Company due to nature of the Company’s
business.

SOCIAL SUBJECT AREAS

Aspect B1: Employment

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets
of the Company. Remuneration Committee was set up to providing
a fair and equitable workplace environment for employees, and
ensures that they are reasonably remunerated.

The Company has incorporated guidelines into the Staff Handbook,
covering all aspects of employment, including working hours, rest
periods, salary and welfare, code of conduct, and anti-bribery.
Employment policies in the Staff Handbook have been reviewed and
regularly updated.

The Company has fully complied with the Employment Ordinance,
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 487), the Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 527) and the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602). The Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that has
an impact relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare during the Year
(2019: Nil).

As at the end of the Year, there were seven (included five males and
two females) full-time employees employed by the Company (2019:
five). The Company is based in Hong Kong and all of its employees
work at the Hong Kong office. During the Year, the turnover rate is
0%.
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Company is committed to providing a safe and healthy working
environment for all of its employees, protecting them from any
potential occupational hazards. The tasks of the employees are
mainly office-based, and thus safety issues are not as pertinent
to the job nature. The Company also offers coverage on medical
insurance (including in-patient and out-patient) and compensation
to employees in the event of sickness and work-related injury.
During the Year, the Company complied with all relevant laws and
regulations including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) in Hong Kong and did not record
any work-related fatality, injury or lost day in the past three years.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Company attaches great importance to the staff development
and quality of employee. The Company has offered training
opportunities from external organisations, and offers flexible training
time to facilitate all employees to reinforce skill sets and to keep up-
to-date with the latest knowledge in their profession.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Company is committed to preventing child and forced labour
in the workplace and complying with all applicable labour laws and
regulations on employment in Hong Kong.

The Company respects human rights and treats this as an important
factor when making investment in human capital in comprehensive
screening process in order to recruit employees with good quality.
The Company requires all job applicants to provide valid identity
documents and personal data and background information will
be collected and verified in details to ensure that they are lawfully
employable prior to confirmation of any employment and preventing
illegal workers, child labour and forced labor.

Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep within standard
work hours and the employees are entitled to annual leave, sick
leave, marriage leave, maternity leave and compassionate leave.
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Company’s principle activity is investment holding. Unlike
those companies which manufacture, trade or provide services, the
Company has relatively few suppliers and a very simplistic supply
chain. The environmental and social impacts with regards to supplier
chain is relatively low.

The Company’s suppliers are mainly those third-party suppliers
providing services such as information technology, property
management, advertising, legal and consulting, and third-party
suppliers of goods such as office equipment, and printing and
stationery. All of the suppliers were based in Hong Kong.

The Company maintains practices that build up positive relationships
with its suppliers as well as focusing on service quality when selecting
suppliers. The Company purchases from a list of approved suppliers
that have been awarded for their quality of goods and services
through the selection process.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Due to the Company’s business nature, it does not deliver a product
or service and hence product responsibility is not applicable to the
Company.

The Company has complied with relevant law and regulations
with regards to data protection and privacy when transacting with
third-party and dealing with member share registration matters.
Unauthorised copying, dissemination or disclosure of confidential
information, including identities and records of transactions of
registered members, are strictly prohibited. During the Year, the
Company has not received any significant complaint from any
stakeholders (2019: Nil).
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Company has strict policies that ensures adherence to the
highest ethical standards and maintains a corporate culture
of integrity and justice to prevent, detect and report all types
of corruption, including bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. In complying with provisions included in the Staff
Handbook, employees at all levels are expected to conduct in an
appropriate manner, with integrity, impartiality and honesty.

The Company has complied with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
(Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions)
Ordinance (Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant laws in regions in which the Company invests. The Company
was not aware of any significant matter related to corruption during
the Year (2019: Nil).

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Company focuses on the surrounding communities and
encourages employees to participate in various local community
activities and events on a voluntary basis on the focus areas. The
Company will make the best use of its influence to address the
community needs and will continue to act socially responsible in the
future.
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BT &6 EH A R G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

To the shareholders of China New Economy Fund Limited
(An exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability)

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of China New Economy Fund
Limited (the “Company”) set out on pages 71 to 159, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement
of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2020, and of
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board (“IAASB”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Carrying amount of listed investments

As can be seen from Note 16 to the financial statements, the aggregate
fair value of the Company’s listed equity investments amounted to
HK$28,892,075 as at 31 December 2020, which comprised approximately
37% of the total of the Company’s assets (by carrying value) as at 31
December 2020 and were significant to the Company’s capital and
financial performance. Due to their materiality, they are one of the areas
which had the greatest effect on our overall audit strategy.

Our procedures over the existence, valuation and completeness of the
Company’s portfolio of listed investments included:

o Assessing the processes in place to record investment transactions
and to value the portfolio;

o Agreeing the pricing of all the listed investments to externally quoted
prices; and

o Obtaining from independent third party custodian confirmations on
all the listed investments.

Carrying amount of suspended listed investments

As can be seen from Note 16 to the financial statements, the investment
portfolio of the Company as at 31 December 2020 also included
investments in suspended listed investments, which do not have an active
market.

We focused on this area because of the significance of these investments
in the financial statements, and because determining the valuation
methodology and the inputs involved high degree of estimation
uncertainty and required significant judgement to be applied by the
investment manager and the board of directors.

BRREXEER

ARBEZEEDBETSNBEHE  HEA
RN B RRNEZRAEENEE - 1BF
$Eﬂﬁigéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁuﬁk
ETRE MESITSYREFHEEERERE
ﬁo

tHREZREE

M BHREMFI67ATRE - ERARIZEM
iR E 2 A FEAENR2020F12 431 H
428,892,075 7T * BIE MR 2020F 12 A 31
H BEARREE (REEBERE)L37%
H BRREARMBRREBEXN - ERA
FEN ZERERHES I EBEZERKA
BATENEERZ—

EEEY ERFRLMEREMAGHNTE A

RTBEENRTERIEE

o MERREHRKREXRSH R HREAS
BEMTE

s WMEMALMREZEERIINLRE
K

s MBUF=FTHEAEREBEMAALD
RENERE

EEEE LRENKREE

HEEREMT167] R &R AFN20204F
NRANEHMERELAGETBREEEEEZ M
WE ZEREWEFROTE -

EEMIZERRE RIS REENBEHRE
hERE  AREEMETDERBABSES
ERREA T REE AT EREEEALESS
BREZHE -

PEIFTCEIRER/R AR / F3k 2020

65



Independent Auditors’ Report
BN 2B

66

Our procedures over the existence and valuation of the Company’s

portfolio of suspended listed investments included:

Assessing the valuation methodologies applied for appropriateness
against accepted market practice;

Assessing the assumptions made in determining the valuation of
these investments by considering factors which may impact their
fair values, including the duration of suspension period, the relevant
market information and news of the suspended listed equities, the
price movement of comparable listed equities or index during the
suspension period,;

Comparing the assumptions used in the Company’s models and
methodologies to independent external sources where possible;

Involving our valuation experts to assist in assessing the valuation
techniques and inputs used, particularly where the valuation inputs

unobservable; and

Evaluating the adequacy of financial statement disclosures.

Carrying amount of unlisted investments

As disclosed in Note 16 to the financial statements, the investment

portfolio includes investments in direct private equity investments and

investments in promissory notes, all of which are unlisted and unquoted.

We focused on this area because of the significance of these investments

in the financial statements, and because determining the valuation

methodology and the inputs involved estimation uncertainty and required

significant judgement to be applied by the investment manager and the

board of directors.
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Our procedures over the existence and valuation of the Company’s
portfolio of unlisted investments included:

o Assessing the design and operating effectiveness of the financial
reporting controls we considered significant in the valuations and
model approval process;

o Assessing the valuation methodologies applied for appropriateness
against accepted market practice;

o Considering whether the application of methodologies is consistent
with generally accepted valuation methodologies and prior periods;

o Comparing the assumptions used in the Company’s models and
methodologies to independent external sources where possible;

° Involving our valuation experts to assist in assessing these valuation
techniques and inputs used, particularly where valuation inputs were
unobservable;

o Reconciling input data to supporting evidence, such as latest
financial information/statements approved by independent auditors;

o Comparing the recent transaction price with the valuation basis
provided by management; and

o Evaluating the adequacy of financial statement disclosures.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors’
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors of the Company are
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
RV A TR

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BN 2B

70

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Hui Chun Keung, David.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chun Keung, David
Practising Certificate Number: P05447

Hong Kong, 29 March 2021
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

B LA EENER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z=2020F 12 A31 8 ILFE

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
Notes HK$ HK$
B 7 BT BT
REVENUE 'ON 5 3,417,096 5,447,693
Net change in fair value of financial & A F(EFEBERIIEZ
assets at fair value through TREECAFEEEFE
profit or loss 6 (23,661,821) (25,920,857)
Other operating expenses Hofth B F 2 (10,526,541) (12,380,812)
OPERATING LOSS EEEIE (30,771,266) (32,853,976)
Finance costs B S K AR 7(a) (335,425) (1,216,964)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BR i A5 18 7(b) (31,106,691) (34,070,940)
Income tax expense B 12 = -
LOSS AND TOTAL APAEBEESEEEA
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR EBHtEREER
THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 2HEEEEE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY (31,106,691) (34,070,940)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE AR TEBEEFZEFEEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY EhEREE
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13
— Basic (restated for 2019) —HEAR(2019F&F5) (0.06) (0.09)
— Diluted (restated for 2019) — 58 (2019 K &F) (0.06) (0.09)
R EIT A IR A AR AR / 3R 2020
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Statement of Financial Position

BSARR

At 31 December 2020 72020512 H31H

2020 2019
2020 & 20194
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Right-of-use asset FREEE 14(a) 71,411 242,796
Deposits b 15 72,205 72,205
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 143,616 315,001
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables — F& 15 5k 18 K H 4tb fE Ug 0 1A 15 4,420,933 283,437
Amounts due from brokers WA 42 AFRIR 15 500,226 203,762
Financial assets at fair value through & A FEFEBEBE=ZIIEZ
profit or loss TRLEE 16 70,545,419 70,866,968
Cash and cash equivalents BeMRSEE 18 2,000,472 403,338
Total current assets MEEELE 77,467,050 71,757,505
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Other payables and accruals B IE R ERTE A 19 1,761,306 1,496,119
Amounts due to brokers FEAT 4R 42 A FRIR 20 4,659,540 8,718,501
Amount due to a related company  Eff —fERIE R AIFIA 21 = 160,000
Lease liability HEAE 14(b) 77,107 179,379
Total current liabilities mEBEERS 6,497,953 10,553,999
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZFE 70,969,097 61,203,506
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES EEHBERABERE 71,112,713 61,518,507
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Lease liability HEaE 14(b) = 77,107
Total non-current liabilities EREBBERT - 77,107
NET ASSETS EEFE 71,112,713 61,441,400
EQUITY s
Issued capital BB TRA 23 24,005,969 13,882,468
Reserves Gk 47,106,744 47,558,932
Total equity EmiaE 71,112,713 61,441,400
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE BREEFE
(restated 2019 for 4 to 1 shares (2020 F &5 2019 F K fn
consolidation in 2020) (BARE MDA A1 IRE G
B 1)) 0.12 0.18
Gu Xu Chan Cheong Yee
B [CH=ES
Director Director
EZE EZE
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Statement of Changes in Equity
RSB E)E

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z=2020F 12 A31 8 ILFE

Share
Issued Share  Distributable options  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve losses Total
ERITRE ROEE THRIREE BRERE 2 FR H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B BT BT i BT
(Note 23) (Note 23) (Note) (Note 22)
(FiEE23) UEYE) (Fir3E) (Fr&t22)
At 1 January 2019 20191 718 11,682,468 108,512,129 15,427,143 - (62,454,706) 73,167,034
Placing of shares BERH 2,200,000 19,800,000 - - - 22,000,000
Share issue expenses R E - (771,694) - - - (771,694)
Equity-settled share-based payment  WEZEER KA - - - 1,117,000 - 1,117,000
Loss and total comprehensive loss EREERZERER
for the year & - - - - (34,070,940) (34,070,940
At 31 December 2019 and R20195 128318 R
1 January 2020 2020051R18 13,882,468 127,540,435* 15,427,143* 1,117,000 (96,525,646)* 61,441,400
Shares issued during the Year FEEBRIRA 10,123,501 30,370,503 - - - 40,494,004
Equity-settled share-based payment ~ JAEZEER R - - - 284,000 - 284,000
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEEERRZABR
for the Year ek - - - - (31,106,691)  (31,106,691)
At 31 December 2020 2020612 A31H 24,005,969 157,910,938* 15,427,143* 1,401,000%  (127,632,337)* 71,112,713
* These reserve accounts comprise the reserve of HK$47,106,744 (2019: HK$47,558,932) * WEREGRER BIEMBRRRAZFE 47,106,744

in the statement of financial position. AIC(20194 1 47,558,932 7T) °

Note: Distributable reserve is a balance of credit derived from capital reduction which may be Mz : At D RBEEAAATEE NS AREKRAERmE
utilised by the directors of the Company. It gives greater flexibility to the Company to HEZHBRERTE  WARATIRARETRE S &
declare dividends and/or to undertake any corporate exercise which requires the use of TR BRI ESRHEE 2 DX EHEERE

distributable reserves in the future.

REEE -
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Statement of Cash Flows
HEmER
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #Z=2020F 12 A31HILFE

74

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
Notes HK$ HK$
B & BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING #EFEHFEB2HLRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BRI AIE 18 (31,106,691) (34,070,940)
Adjustments for: FELATNIE R FE
Finance costs BT RERR 335,425 1,216,964
Dividend income from listed FTREREESFRERA
equity securities 5 (587,675) (72,785)
Interest income FEWA (924,421) (933)
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FABEENE 171,385 99,975
Net realised loss on financial assets ZATEEBREBERIIERZ
at fair value through TREECER
profit or loss E18F 6 33,116,554 60,326,270
Net unrealised gain on financial ZATEEBERES
assets at fair value through profit CREERER
or loss Woas ¥ 58 6 (9,454,733) (34,405,413)
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net HNE (Uezk) /18R A (303) 99,588
Equity-settled share-based payment  LAME i 45 & M B9 15 31 284,000 1,117,000
Withholding tax BB 58,768 -
(8,107,691) (5,690,274)
Payments for purchase of financial BERATEEBRERIEZ
assets at fair value through SREEZMAR
profit or loss (232,396,461) (151,680,945)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets HEZAFEEBIERIERZ
at fair value through profit or loss SREEMSHIA 208,122,150 140,522,669
(Increase)/decrease in deposits and e RFERFER
prepayments and other receivables H fth fE Y 5k 18 (€ hn),F (2,994,269) 425,026
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due FEURAS 42 A 5038 (32 00), R
from brokers (321,322) 2,195,107
Decrease in amounts due to brokers — JE{F&& 42 A FRIE R D (4,058,961) (8,436,938)
Increase in other payables and accruals £ ftb J& < 5K T8 [ JE 5T & F & 0 265,187 202,292
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to  FEAT — R BEE A 7 ZUA
a related company R A),/#n (160,000) 80,000
Cash used in operations HEMARE (39,651,367) (22,383,063)
Dividend income received from listed U F itz B AR 2 U A
equity securities 528,907 72,785
Interest income received EF B U A 740,394 933
Net cash flows used in operating EERMARSREFE
activities (38,382,066) (22,309,345)
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Statement of Cash Flows
WEMER
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020F 124318 ILFE

2020 2019
2020 20194
Notes HK$ HK$
B & BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RETBREZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT PTIS RO 40,494,004 22,000,000
Share issue expenses e in 317 X = (771,694)
Interest paid BAFE (335,425) (1,216,964)
Repayment of principal portion of BEREABNEAEHS
lease liability 28 (179,379) (86,285)
Net cash flows from financing activities Ei & /EBFTSIR &R EFE 39,979,200 19,925,057
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN BeRBSEEEM(RD)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FE 1,597,134 (2,384,288)
Cash and cash equivalents at REEVRERESEE
beginning of Year 403,338 2,787,626
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TEERRESRRESEE
AT END OF YEAR 2,000,472 403,338
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BE&RREZELEHIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
— Cash at banks —RITIRE 18 2,000,472 403,338
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Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

76

2.1

CORPORATION INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 1
February 2010 under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability. The Company was
established for the purpose of acting as a closed-ended investment
company.

The Company'’s registered office is at P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business of the Company is
at Unit 702, 7/F., 135 Bonham Strand Trade Centre, 135 Bonham
Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The principal investment objective of the Company is to achieve
long-term capital appreciation through investing globally in both
private and public enterprises that have demonstrated the ability to
manufacture a product or deliver a service that is supported by the
economies of Mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”), the
Company’s investment activities are managed by China Everbright
Securities (HK) Limited (the "Investment Manager”). China
Everbright Securities (HK) Limited ceased to be the Investment
Manager from 30 November 2020 and Evergrande Securities (Hong
Kong) Limited is appointed as new investment manager effective on
1 January 2021.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the
disclosure requirements of Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which have been
measured at fair values. The financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") except when otherwise indicated.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2020
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Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Company has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial

Reporting 2018 and the following revised IFRSs for the first time for

the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 1,

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Definition of Material

and IAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised IFRSs are described below:

(a)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance
to all parties to understand and interpret the standards.
The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on
measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and
updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence
and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The
Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of
the concepts contained therein override the concepts or
requirements in any standard. The Conceptual Framework did
not have any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Company.
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2020 2020512 A31H
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 address the effects
of interbank offered rate reform on issues affecting financial
reporting in the period before the replacement of an existing
interest rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate
(“RFR"). The amendments provide temporary reliefs which
enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of
uncertainty before the replacement of an existing interest rate
benchmark introduction of the alternative RFR. In addition,
the amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships
which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial position
and performance of the Company as the Company does not
have any interest rate hedging relationships.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information, or both. A misstatement of information
is material if it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions made by the primary users. The amendments did
not have any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Company.
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Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 B BB R E XA EBR T
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING & 2R
STANDARDS
The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, RABWARRZETBHRRANBEAUT
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial B AR B 1 R A R #TR] RSB AT BB
statements. BTSSR o
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BRTREEENE3R e ERmEL
Framework? b HES
Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — ARGRAEENER BY  FEEENE-Z-RE
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 Phase 22 SFHERIE30%  EREE
and IFRS 16 REEUE7H - AREHK
FERAZ4F REBHE
BEEZ16% 2B A
Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets ERUEREENS0ER RNRERREBELANAY
and IAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its BB QiERE 8% PERLERTNEES
Associate or Joint Venture® (Q0115) 2B A
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts* I%EW#&%@E‘J%W% [REaR
Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions' ARGREEENS 6%, Coid192EBESER
[BETR
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*? ARERELEAE TR, RRARYY
TR
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current BReHENZI1T BITE  BREARAREIERD ¢
or Non-current*®
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: ARSENE R BIE  NE BEREE: f&%ﬁﬁﬁ
Proceeds before Intended Use? BAINAETE
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling ARHENFIR LR BElLEN- Fﬁ:.%@ﬁﬁﬁﬂ“
a Contract?
Annual Improvements to  Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, ARGEREEN08FE  BEEHEREENE R
IFRSs 2018 — 2020 lllustrative Examples accompanying 205MEFNE BREBEERIEIR
IFRS 16, and IAS 412 BRI BRELE 6%

BRI R AR
SHEAZNFZBIR

20205 6 A1 Az %FE 2z FEBRER

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

1 1

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 2 M2021F 1 A1 Bz &Rtz FEBREER

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 3 K 202261 A1 B2 &G 2 52 BREER

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 4 R2023F 1 A1 BRZ &R 2 EBHREER

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption 5 1) AR 758 E 5 1Rl AR A B R - R AT HER AR

o As a consequence of the amendments to IAS 1, International Interpretation 5 3 FEBR e EE 1R 2BIA - BEERR
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term E554 ﬁ?ﬁif 0= f/ EAAH B EEEL
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October BE XK ERHE ‘5@555’*2020& 108F
2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion LAMERT - bABE—48 Eﬁﬁ i BEDHWEES)

7 As a consequence of the amendments to IFRS 17 issued in October 2020, IFRS 4 g %E@ZOZO@ 10 A 7815 ) B PR B 75 3R 45 £ |
was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to apply FNTHR2IERTA - B BREENFIRE
IAS 39 rather than IFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023 EHEE]  MBEARERRE - AFRBRAAR

20234 1 A1 B Z A1 18 K 2 5 5 FE A BB
T2 B 55 30 57 T JE B R B 7S 3R e 2E AU 5 9 5%
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 C SR {E s R A R AV B B B 75
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING w& %R (&)
STANDARDS (Continued)
Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be EHBHERARARATNZ SRR
applicable to the Company is described below. WMEEBME-—TERFEN T -
Amendments to IAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying Rer B F1RNBEREESE
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify that TE ﬁmﬁjﬂziﬁmiﬁﬁ’ﬁﬁi ZEEETH
if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the HERHEERSEABEMNERSZRER
entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right to E/(E SR EREHRN - AWz BB
defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period BE BB EAERNRERRIEERE
if it complies with those conditions at that date. Classification of a BEAG - AENSBEITRERBITER
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise RATEEEEENAIRIENTE - &
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also ZRIMBEERREEAENER
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. ZEIBRIR2023F 1 A1HRZERE
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or MFEHEAER BEPER WA
after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier REER - BHIZEE JH#K%.‘%TK’&
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have A mRENEMERTE

any significant impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to BB B TSR E R 2018 FF 2 2020 FHIF
IFRS 1, IFRS 9, lllustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16, and IAS JEHE S| BRI s 22 RIS 1 5%
41. Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to BREF IS YERE 99 - BRI SR A %
the Company are as follows: AIIZE 16 5% BEFT & 52 AR M /R ) I PR & R

AERIE 41 5R 2 BT A o FEHA @ AR A
L\TE}];/Zﬁ{ DTﬂi‘ ZZD—F

e IFRS 9 financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity . BB B i sk S 2B EoSk 2@ T
includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or A BEREBNMREHT K
modified financial liability are substantially different from the EReHBENKRERSRAE
terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only MR FEEEZERMEESNE
those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, A -ZEEREEFEEBERAEER
including fees paid or received by either the borrower or AZBEZARBEHER - 215
lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment ERARERANRKREAM T T L
to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or WHRHER - BE88EHBIETER
after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which REBERIERBBIERTNFER
the entity first applies the amendment. The amendment is HEARIA S 2 RIEE R S Rl
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January BE - %BFTN2022F1 A1 A
2022. Earlier application is permitted. The amendment is ZIEFIRRFE BB ER - WAET
not expected to have a significant impact on the Company's IRRIER - BAIRRIEFT T g E R
financial statements. NEHBmFRERNERLE -
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

o IFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in Illustrative
Example 13 accompanying IFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives when
applying IFRS 16.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Company measures its equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset
or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Company. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants
act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

2.3

2.4
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

82

POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 Based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 Based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 Based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in which
it arises, (only if there are revalued assets in the financial statements)
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases

The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is,

or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract

conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration.

Company as a lessee

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of

low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make

lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use

the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Company as a lessee (Continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Company exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

86

POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued) HE (#E)
Company as a lessee (Continued) AREERAHAA ()

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases
of low-value assets to leases of office equipment and laptop
computers that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Company has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Company has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2020

© RHHERKEEEZHE

AR BEREERARREAR
EpnEmErnEHEas (el
ERMBERETESAT @A
AT - tEAEEBEEEENE
g5 EEEEEHENEIRHR
TERNERREEENHRARE
RFREMEE -

RMHEENHENKREEEEE
HEGEHYANREREERRFAX

RERHMEBMEE

IR R T2

TREENRERF S BRERRE
HRAGE BAFEFAEMZEE
@RI AFEEBREIR -

TREENNEERFZOBRTFR
gFZ HEEREFBRARGER
EoMEEZEBRAME -BABE
éﬁmﬂﬁﬁ PR ARNBIEEANAESE
ABRERDFEZATEESTAZES
JEWRIRSN - RA R AR A FE N (f
TREEWIFRAFERBRRIIER) X
FRAGFECREE -TESEARE
RARRAREEBAITEESAZE
ZEMGRIA - THRIE T X [W ARER B
R EERMBREERNFE1SHKAE
EZRGERTE -

nu



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset that is a debt instrument to be classified
and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost
are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets
classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of both
holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
and financials assets which are equity instruments are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Company commits
to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments
which the Company had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair
value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are also recognised as revenue in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income when the right of payment
has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the dividend will flow to the Company and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Company’s statement of financial position)
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

o the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Company’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Company also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that
the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Company could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit
or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Company compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Company
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities cRAE
Initial recognition and measurement W ERRE

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include other payables and
accruals, amounts due to brokers, amount due to a related company
and lease liability.

TREBERVEERRIZERB RS
REANFEEBERIIENERAE
ERNEE  ENFE EREER
BRSO TANITAETA -

MEZRAENHRRAFERR X
REEREMNFRBANANREZBER
N

AR EBEEBREEMENZKIEAR
EEtER - BNERLEASR - B —H
MEARFEMEERRE -

Subsequent measurement H#E 2
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their CRBENHEEFEDRETEUE T
classification as follows: e :

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Revenue recognition

Dividend income is recognised on the date on which the investments
are quoted ex-dividend or, where no ex-dividend rate is quoted,
when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been
established and it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend can be measured reliably. Dividend income is
presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which
are disclosed separately in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)
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POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from sources other than dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is

LON: 346 )]

DERBAFEEERRIEZERE
2 B RR R AR 4R B BB LA SN Ml 2 B

described below. MR o
Revenue from other sources X EE KL EA

Income from profit guarantee is recognised when the amount is
received or receivable.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods
that the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Company’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Company receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using a binomial model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative
expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are
considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate
expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-
vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either
the Company or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

Related parties

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the
Company if that person:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FESTBERBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BES (&)
or 3
(b)  the entity is related to the Company if any of the following (b) AT EMEEBERER @ BIE TR
conditions applies: ZA/NSIPSREaLE
(i)  the entity and the Company are members of the same () ZERBOAAQNGBER—SE
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and BB AR (EERZFZMK
fellow subsidiary is related to the others; EREHOYAGE B ARMAE
FMBARIMBEERAE)
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy —EEBARS —TEMEE
entity (or of an associate or joint venture of a member of NAgGEEE (A —E
a group of which the other entity is a member); BAMESE /K E A R
EhENESERE)
(i the entity and the Company are joint ventures of the (iy ZEBRAAGHRA %
same third party; =HMEERE
(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other vy —AEBRE=FEENE
entity is an associate of the third entity; EhE ME—EBRZSE
ZHEROEE QT
(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) EZET’%%Z%$Q Al sk — K EZR
benefit of employees of either the Company or an entity NAEHENEEREED
related to the Company; B R e R A E
(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person (i) ZEREX ()P BIA T
identified in (a); o X H HRES
(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (vii) P @) Tl A ¥ 2 B 88
over the entity or is a member of the key management BEAZENEZEE (K%
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and ERSARDEEEEAEN
Hp—2KE &k
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a (vii) ZEEIHEES B8 E M
part, provides key management personnel services to the BKERFMARTHAR A
Company or to the parent of the Company. HARREEZZETEABR
7% o
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POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

Share capital

The Company’s ordinary shares are classified as equity as the
Company has full discretion on repurchasing the shares and on
dividend distributions.

Issuance and acquisition of ordinary shares are accounted for as
equity transactions.

Upon issuance of shares, the consideration received is included in
equity.

Transaction costs incurred by the Company in issuing or acquiring
its own equity instruments are accounted for as a deduction
from equity to the extent that they are incremental costs directly
attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have
been avoided.

Own equity instruments which are acquired are deducted from
equity and accounted for at amounts equal to the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs.

No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income on the purchase, sale, issuance or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions are at the discretion of the Company. A
dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is accounted
for as a deduction from retained earnings. An interim dividend is
recognised directly as a liability in the period in which it is irrevocably
declared by the Board of Directors. A final dividend is recognised as
a liability in the period in which it is approved by the annual general
meeting of shareholders.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash at banks, including term deposits, and
assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Company operates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial

reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;

and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of

unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither

the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against

which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

The Company is exempted from all forms of taxation in Cayman
Islands, including income, capital gains and withholding taxes.
However, in some jurisdictions, investment income and capital
gains are subject to withholding tax deducted at the source of the
income. Withholding tax is a generic term used for the amount of
withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Company
presents the withholding tax separately from the gross investment
income in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TESTHEME (8)

102

POLICIES (Continued)

Functional and presentation currency

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Hong
Kong dollar, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The Company’s performance
is evaluated and its liquidity is managed in Hong Kong dollars.
Therefore, the Hong Kong dollar is considered as the currency that
most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions.

Foreign currency translations

Foreign currency transactions during the Year are translated at the

WERZINERE

RATOWER 25 S BET BT
AR BT B AR R -
AARMERBWETRGE  MABHES
TABTEE - Bl - BLBRARE
MR ERIEER S - BRGNS
B o

SEEBRE

REZARNINER HIRR 5 B HE XKk

s

Y

rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. g

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies MOMNBEHENEREERBERREH

are translated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at HRBEAMNEEEBERRE - £5
i

the end of the reporting date. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or
loss arising from translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference
on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

Foreign currency transactions gains and losses on financial
instruments classified as at fair value through profit or loss are
included in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income
as part of the “Net change in fair value of financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. Foreign exchange
differences on other financial instruments are included in profit
or loss in the statement of comprehensive income as “Foreign
exchange gains/loss, net”.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Going concern

The Company’s management has made an assessment of the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied
that the Company has the resources to continue in business for
the foreseeable future. Furthermore, management is not aware of
any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern
basis.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below. The Company based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the financial statements were prepared.
However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances
arising beyond the control of the Company. These changes are
reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

3.

E RS H B R A&

REARBNMBRRE - BEEAE
HHE - R KRR - M F HIE - f
ArhBREFERA RAX - -BEENEA
ENEREBENMEEERBEARIAE
BRI - AR F R R H) T
THAEEHHRRTREHUITENEE
FBEBEEHEANREEHAE

#

RERARBNEHRBREY  BE
BEFLUATHRMBERRERSRE
REEBEEZHE  EZFY R
Z HIE BRI

ARREEECHARNARRELLEN
EHFHE  YRRARARARRRE
RWEREBREEER - 1o TR
B T HBEAEANTRAREEZ ALY
RRABFBEERIEEETERRER -
bt BB RREERBFELEEEN

st RBR®R

REEEH ARRKNEERELE
i E REFTHABRES RERRER -
AEFEERBERMER P=—FBF
RAFLEARAE  BRRBRE LG T
BARA BRI Z= 70 T SO - AR BB A5 R
B ARBREATESHS2BELRR
KAhiat o R - WA B R RRER
MRREERARBEENIEER
MZEHHENMAE - ZFEHSE
LERBNBRERAEPTRE -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimates and assumptions (Continued)
Taxes

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex
tax regulations and changes in tax laws on foreign withholding
tax. Given the wide range of international investments, differences
arising between the actual investment income and the assumptions
made, or future changes to such assumptions, could necessitate
future adjustments to tax expense already recorded. The Company
establishes provisions, based on reasonable estimates, for possible
consequences of audits by the tax authorities of the respective
jurisdiction in which it invests. The amounts of these provisions are
based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax audits
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity
and the responsible tax authority. Such differences of interpretation
may arise on a wide variety of issues depending on the conditions
prevailing in the respective domicile of investments.

Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair value of financial assets recorded in the statement
of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, their
fair value is determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models
are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this
is not feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. The
estimates include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such
as the share price of the underlying investment, correlation, volatility
and transactions of shares. Changes in assumptions about these
factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments
in the statement of financial position and the level where the
instruments are disclosed in the fair value hierarchy.

The suspended equity investments, unlisted equity investments
and promissory notes have been valued based on a market-
based valuation technique as detailed in Note 27 to the financial
statements. The valuation requires the Company to determine the
comparable public companies (peers) and select the price multiple.
In addition, the Company makes estimates about the discount for
illiquidity and size differences. The Company classifies the fair value
of these investments as Level 3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimates and assumptions (Continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

IFRS 13 requires disclosures relating to fair value measurements
using a three-tier fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of
the inputs used in measuring fair values. The level in the fair value
hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised
in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For
this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the
fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement
uses observable inputs that require significant adjustments based
on unobservable inputs, then that measurement is a Level 3
measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to
the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement,
considering factors specific to the asset or liability. To assess the
significance of a particular input to the entire measurement, the
Company performs a sensitivity analysis.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Company is organised into business
units based on the categories of investments. During the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019, the Company has two reportable and
operating segments as follows:

Listed securities — Investments in equity securities listed on relevant
stock exchange

Unlisted securities — Investments in private equity funds, private
equity securities and promissory notes

The geographical analysis of Company’s turnover and segment
results by geographical areas for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019 is not presented as significant transactions of the
Company are mainly based in Hong Kong.

Further details of the Company’s investments are included in Note 6
and Note 16.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFHEFR (E)
(Continued)
The following is an analysis of the Company’s results by operating T AREEDEEI DB ARR R EEM
segment: EZ D
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Unallocated Total
ik 2 FLmHEH ADE Foh
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E2020F 12 A31 HILFE
Segment revenue AEHA 587,675 2,544,027 285,394 3,417,096
Segment results DEEE (18,404,062) (2,126,057) = (20,530,119)
Bank interest income RITF BN 394
Government grants B 285,000
Unallocated expenses AARFEY (10,861,966)
Loss before tax BREAIE R (31,106,691)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Unallocated Total
ImEH FEMESR by @it
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HZ2019F 12 A31 ALt FE
Segment revenue R ON 72,785 5,373,975 933 5,447,693
Segment results DEES (17,178,072) (3,296,025) - (20,474,097
Bank interest income RATFIEIA 933
Unallocated expenses AAEFEY (13,597,776)
Loss before tax BRiRIEE (34,070,940)
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the operating
segments derived revenue from dividend income, interest income
and income from profit guarantee earned from the investments
held by the segments. Segment results represented the net gains
or losses on changes in fair values of listed equity securities,
private equity securities, private equity fund and promissory notes
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
the corresponding interest income, dividend income as well as
income from profit guarantee earned by each segment without
the allocation of administrative expenses, finance costs, interest
income from bank deposits, government grants and the Investment
Manager’s fees.

As management considers the Company’s nature of business to be
investment trading and there are no major customers, accordingly
no information regarding revenue derived from major customers is
presented.

The following is an analysis of the Company’s assets and liabilities by

IR

4. BETHER ()

HE20209F % 2019412 A31H IFF
B REDEHNRAREDHMFHRE
BRELAY IR B ~ F B i Fl AR 78
WA - DEEEEDERIZAFEER
BaiEremEEy FMEEES
EBREES ALEREESRELE
BATEZFHMNRENERFENREE
FIEUWA ~ R EWARE D EBRE 2 4
FURFBUWA - I AEF RITHAXZ - B 7%
AN~ SRITIE AU A« BT 4 B LA
RIEEEBABRDE -

mMRERERARARN LT SR
BBRSAYEBEBES  WHELIE
Mk B EERSHORANER -

NTREREEDHEIDHARBEER

Il

operating segment: BEMEZD
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EomEH FEHESE F
HKS$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 31 December 2020 ®2020%F 12 A31H
Segment assets: DEBEEE -
Financial assets at fair value BEAFEEBERIEZ
through profit or loss TREE 32,690,419 37,855,000 70,545,419
Unallocated assets ROBLEE 7,065,247
Total assets BERE 77,610,666
Liabilities: BfE:
Unallocated liabilities Ao AE 6,497,953
Total liabilities BE®5 6,497,953

B EREBR AR / F1R 2020

107



Notes to Financial Statements

P

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4., RETHER (B)
(Continued)
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EmESF I ETES HEt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT AT BT
As at 31 December 2019 7R2019%F 12 A31H
Segment assets: DEBEEE -
Financial assets at fair value EAFEBEBERIEKZ
through profit or loss CRLEE 46,483,968 24,383,000 70,866,968
Unallocated assets AOEREE 1,205,538
Total assets BERE 72,072,506
Liabilities: BfE:
Unallocated liabilities Ao afE 10,631,106
Total liabilities BEAR 10,631,106
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating MEEIR S TR A EEEEBRMm
resources between segments, all financial assets at fair value through = FEEATEEBEEBRYEZSR
profit or loss are allocated to reportable segments. All other assets BEHDEE0 2D L o« NN AT
of the Company, including right-of-use asset, deposits, prepayments EEMEE (BIEEHELSE -1 18
and other receivables, amounts due from brokers and cash and FRTE R B EI IR - FEIRE 4L AR
cash equivalents, and all liabilities are not allocated to the operating BIARBESRIRGEE) MFAEa G E
segments. SEEELES -
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REVENUE 5 WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASHTEAT -
2020 2019
2020 £F 20194
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Dividend income from listed equity EiEEFEFRERA
securities 587,675 72,785
Interest income from promissory notes ELER 2R B WA 924,027 -
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 394 933
Income from profit guarantee (Note (i) 5 FIl4R 75 Yo A (BT EE (i) 1,620,000 5,373,975
Government grants (Note (ii) AT #78 BY (B 3 Gi)) 285,000 -
3,417,096 5,447,693
Notes: MsE -

(i)

Income from profit guarantee relates to amounts received and receivable in
respect of a private equity investment in Hong Kong under the profit guarantee
terms set out in the relevant agreement.

Government grants from Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR")
Government Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) have been received for
retaining employees who may otherwise be made redundant. The related salary
expenditure for which government grant intended to compensate has been fully
undertaken and recognised as revenue. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

(ii)

O MR 3 WA S AR b5 48 B 1 2 P 80 i )
IREE 6 3L 2 78 AL B AR R B W I R M Y

IR ©

BEUBMEERTHER ([FEFE ] BAR
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6. NET CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL 6. RATFEZERERIRZ2EH

ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR BEEZAFEESHFE
LOSS
Listed Unlisted
securities securities Total
EmEFE FEmESF “st
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
BT BT BT
For the year ended (= 202012 A31H
31 December 2020 IEFE
Net realised loss on financial BEAFEEBERIEKZ
assets at fair value through TREECDERER
profit or loss FRE (31,974,470) (1,142,084) (33,116,554)

BATFEEBBRIIEY
SRARERBTU

Net unrealised gain/(loss) on
financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss (B18)F%58 12,982,733 (3,528,000) 9,454,733
Total of net realised and SFTABRZEZIR R
unrealised loss included in RERBHIERFHE

profit or loss (18,991,737) (4,670,084) (23,661,821)

Listed Unlisted

securities securities Total

L hES IELEMESH st

HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

For the year ended HZE2019F12HA31H
31 December 2019 FFE

BRATEFBERIIERZ
CRMEECEREE
profit or loss HEE

Net unrealised gain on financial &R A FAEF BB Z

PRMEERER K

Net realised loss on financial
assets at fair value through
(22,826,270)

(37,500,000) (60,326,270)

assets at fair value through

profit or loss FER 5,575,413 28,830,000 34,405,413
Total of net realised and ARABmZDERN

unrealised loss included in R B 18 4 F 5

profit or loss (17,250,857) (8,670,000) (25,920,857

110 China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2020



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

6. NET CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL 6. ROFEEBBRRIIK S
ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR BEZRFESEFEE)

LOSS (Continued)

EmBEp R EMREADBERIE AT
EEEBRRIIRCEREE -

The listed shares and unlisted investments are all classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

HEZRTEEBERYIR I ERAE

Realised loss on disposals of financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss amounted to HK$33,116,554 (2019: realised loss of NS fﬁ‘gﬁgﬁ'ﬁﬁ 116,554/ 7T (2019
HK$60,326,270), representing the difference between the financial F E%”Hﬁgﬁﬁ 60,326,279/%75) &
assets’ initial carrying amount upon initial recognition (usually their TREERVRERROTAEREEE

costs) and disposal consideration amount. Unrealised gain amounted
to HK$9,454,733 (2019: unrealised gain of HK$34,405,413)
comprises change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the Year and from reversal of the prior years’
unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which were
realised in the reporting period.

CRERAA) BHERESECHNE

B o REBUH B,
% RBAIS 34,4

454,7337% 7L (2019
05,413/87T) * B21&

AEREAFEEBESIRERE

ERR

AFESTIA RN RS PHE 2R

BEFESRTACDERKE REER

@ -
LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRBATEE
The Company’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging: ZAYN BR Bt Al &S 1B FNBR IA T & TR 1%
L@Z ;
2020 2019
2020 & 20194
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(@)  Finance costs (@) BIFEAAR
Interest on other borrowings HEaEERNE 331,324 1,212,495
Interest on lease liability HEBGEHE 4,101 4,469
335,425 1,216,964
(b)  Other operating expenses (b) HMgEMX
Staff cost (excluding directors’ BEIRAKN(TBIEES
remuneration and share-based B < K2 B 19 1< 300
payment) 3,132,616 £ 21710) 117458
Investment management fee KEERE
(Note 11) (BFEE11) 550,000 960,000
Foreign exchange loss, net HNEESHE - FER 24,094 99,588
Auditors’ remuneration ZE R B & 500,000 500,000
Lease payments not included in the AFEHEEBRITARGTA
measurement of lease liability M E R 17,204 213,951
Consultancy fee B - 63,000
Legal and professional fees FRERBEEXEALER 1,557,177 983,341
Commission and other charges HekEMmER 319,574 301,510
Depreciation of right-of-use asset CRAEEENE 171,385 99,975
Equity-settled share-based payment LA 25 45 B R (9 5P 3R 284,000 1,117,000
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the Year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

EENE

RIEEHRA - FIB R EEDIE 383(1)
@ b QEOEERR (WEEEF
BEMBROIFE2H TARBEZAFEE

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: =MemT
2020 2019
2020 & 20194
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Fees e 1,304,650 1,289,050
1,304,650 1,289,050

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December

HE2020F12 A3 HIEFESEEW

2020 as follows: BewmnT :
Name of Directors Fees Bonus Total
BExps e ALF mst
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Gu Xu )bt 360,000 - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee RERLE 528,000 - 528,000
888,000 - 888,000
Non-executive directors FBTES
Mr. Wang Dingben FTAREE
(Appointed on 9 June 2020) (R 2020F 6 A9OREZT) - = =
Mr. Chow Yeung Tuen Richard BB E
(Appointed on 9 June 2020) (7202056 A9 HEZ ) 65,650 - 65,650
65,650 - 65,650
Independent non-executive BYFHITES
directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi A EE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RUREE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Sun Boguan BiaziHE 117,000 - 117,000
351,000 - 351,000
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 December

8. EEME (&)

HE209F1NA3HLEFEZREEN

2019 as follows: MemT :
Name of Directors Fees Bonus Total
EE e LR st
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Gu Xu Y pte 360,000 - 360,000
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REELE 528,000 - 528,000
888,000 - 888,000
Non-executive director FHITES
Mr. Lam Chun Ho MR 5 A4
(Resigned on 5 June 2019) (720194 6 A 5 BEHE) 50,050 - 50,050
50,050 - 50,050
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
directors
Mr. Chong Ching Hoi HESEE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Leung Wai Lim RERTE 117,000 - 117,000
Mr. Sun Boguan RA2EE
(Appointed on 5 June 2019) (201946 ASHEZE) 66,950 - 66,950
Mr. Pun Tit Shan % 15 5 A
(Resigned on 5 June 2019) (201946 A5 BEE) 50,050 - 50,050
351,000 - 351,000
Fees paid to or for the executive directors are generally emoluments AHITESYNHNER —BAHEHZZE A

TEEARAEHABNRBOME
EXFARFMITERE MBI FATES
MMEEBPRREER/ARAESM
R (A9 AR A5 o

in respect of those persons’ services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company. The non-executive and
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (EXCLUDING 9. EERAHEXZ(FTEEEEM

114

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION)

%)

2020 2019

2020 20194

HK$ HK$

BT BT

(Restated)

(#&E7))

Salaries, wages and allowances e - TENMERL 2,899,732 3,151,387

Bonus TE4T 150,061 131,961
Retirement benefit expenses RIREFIRL

— Defined contribution plan — E R G 82,823 86,777

Equity-settled share based payment Az B R T3 284,000 1,117,000

3,416,616 4,487,125

The Company operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong

ARRRERFIMEATER ([REE]) A

Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory ENEPINIRTE  EEBRBEHEENE
Provident Fund (“MPF") Schemes Ordinance. Contributions to the & - BIESFTEIHFURERE SR8
MPF scheme follow the MPF Schemes Ordinance. BEhTT o

Under the MPF scheme, each of the Company (the employer) and its
Hong Kong employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, as defined in the MPF
Schemes Ordinance. Both the Company and its employees” monthly
contributions are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and contributions
beyond these amounts are voluntary. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested upon payment.

As at 31 December 2020, there were no forfeited contributions
(2019: Nil).
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. ABRSHFMES
The five highest paid employees during the Year included two AEEhERRTHNEEREMEES
Directors (2019: two Directors), details of whose remunerations are (2019F - MBESE)  WEMEHNFS
set out in Note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the Year of B LS c WIHARREEKEE
the remaining three (2019: three) highest paid employees who are THRABRESR=% (2019F : =H&) &
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows: SETWEENEREFEHMEFENT ¢
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
HK$ HK$
BT BT
(Restated)
(&%)
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & & -~ 286 & EW1E A 2,306,124 2,507,124
Bonus ?E,%I 108,927 108,927
Retirement benefit expenses RIREFIF X
— Defined contribution plan —E B RETE 52,200 54,000
2,467,251 2,670,051
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid FEFNIETZTHRAEERFWES
employees whose remuneration fall within the following bands is as BB THEMIAZSET
follows:

Number of individuals

AE
2020 2019
2020 F 20194
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 %% 1,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 B TE
1,500,000 7T 1 1
3 3

B EREBR AR / F1R 2020 =15
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11. FEES 1. EH
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Administration fee

Amicorp Fund Services Asia Limited (the “Administrator”) is entitled
to receive an administration fee which is calculated based on the
net asset value of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of
0.11% per annum.

The administration fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee of
USD4,000 plus 7% disbursement charge (2019: USD8,000 plus 7%
disbursement charge from 1 January 2019 to 31 May 2019 and
USD4,000 plus 7% disbursement charge from 1 June 2019 to 31
December 2019) and is payable monthly in arrears.

The administration fee for the Year is HK$398,329 (2019:
HK$570,322). As at 31 December 2020, an administration fee of
HK$66,359 (2019: HK$66,870) was payable to the Administrator.

Custodian fee

Bank of Communications Trustee Limited (the “Custodian”) is
entitled to a custodian fee which is calculated based on the net asset
value of the Company at valuation day equal to the rate of 0.04%
per annum. The custodian fee is subject to a monthly minimum fee
of HK$12,500 and is payable monthly in arrears.

The custodian fee for the Year is HK$150,866 (2019: HK$288,677).
As at 31 December 2020, a custodian fee of HK$25,000 (2019:
HK$25,094) was payable to the Custodian.

Management fee

The Company had terminated the investment management
agreement with China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited (the
“China Everbright Agreement”) effective on 30 November 2020
and entered into a new investment management agreement with
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited (the “New Investment
Manager”) effective on 1 January 2021.

The New Investment Manager is entitled to a monthly management
fee of HK$50,000 and payable monthly in advance.
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11. FEES (Continued) 1. 8/ (&)
Management fee (Continued) EEE (F)
Prior to the termination of the China Everbright Agreement, the MBS RHE& LR REEEBAR
Investment Manager was entitled to a monthly management fee of WS AEIEE50,0008 T KBRS
HK$50,000 and payable monthly in arrears. RREXf -
The management fee for the Year is HK$550,000 (2019: REEEIRE F550,000787L (20194 -
HK$960,000). As at 31 December 2020, no management fee (2019: 960,000/ J7T) ° 2020912 A31H -
HK$160,000) was payable to the Investment Manager. WREMNERETREETEA (20194

160,000/ 7T) °
12. TAXATION 12. Bi1E

The major components of income tax charge for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 are:

HE2020F %2019 12 A31 B IEFEE
i8R =B A :

2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Current tax: BVEARR IR -
Hong Kong Profits tax ERBMEH = -
Deferred tax B IE - -
Tax charge for the year FREMIERX - -

EREER R ZBRAERITER 2 M
HRXERERHRFE AR Y

A reconciliation of the tax expenses applicable to loss before tax
using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate is

as follows: BRLNT -
2020 2019
2020 & 20194
HK$ HK$
BT B IT
Loss before tax bR B AT E 1R (31,106,691) (34,070,940)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% RIEERE16.5% st E W IE (5,132,604) (5,621,705)
Income not subject to tax RN 2 WA (1,886,903) (5,689,199)
Expenses not deductible for tax A MB X 228,661 288,935
Tax losses not recognised RIERBIEEE 6,790,846 11,021,969
Tax charge at the effective rate of 16.5% IZEER K 16.5% st EH
IR - -
o ST B A B IR AR / 43R 2020 E 7
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12. TAXATION (Continued) 12. BiiE ()
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Cayman Islands

Under the current Cayman Islands law, there is no income tax,
corporation tax, capital gains tax or any other kinds of tax on
profits or gains or tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax
currently in effect.

Effective from the date of incorporation of the Company, and for
a period of twenty years, no law that is hereafter enacted in the
Cayman Islands imposing any tax on income will be levied on the
Company.

Hong Kong

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of the Company will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
financial statements as the Company did not generate any assessable
profit for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

At the end of reporting period, the Company has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$539,000,000 (2019: approximately
HK$498,000,000) available for offset against future profits that
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.
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13.

14.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share amount is
based on the Company’s loss of HK$31,106,691 (2019: loss of
HK$34,070,940) for the Year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the Year of 521,723,491 (2019: 363,986,596
(restated) ordinary shares), as adjusted to reflect retrospectively the
impact of share consolidation and bonus element of the rights issue
completed on 7 April 2020 and 15 May 2020 respectively.

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2020 in arriving at diluted loss per share as the
Company had no potential ordinary shares in issue during the Year.
No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2019 in arriving at diluted loss per share as the
outstanding share options of the Company had anti-dilutive effect
for the year.

LEASES

The Company as a lessee

The Company has a lease contract for office premises used in its
operations. Lease of office premises has lease term of 2 years.
Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Company. The lease contract includes
extension or termination options which are not considered to be
exercisable by the Company.

13.

14.

AAREBEESRAARGE
&R

BREARBEEBEBLBULRRF
TBEZRAEARGEARAFEARRA
B 831,106,691 7L (20194 : E518
34,070,940 70) RAFEE BT LB
& ANAE 9 £0521,723,491 B% (2019 4 ¢
363,986,596 (&£ &3] IR L) st E5
B FHEERRES BIR 2020 F
4778 &2020F5 815 H SR8 % 1
BHREROMIE D ZHE -

HRAFEAARTEBCEITELY
MR WA ESREEEBRHEZE
2008 12 AT ALEFENERENE
BELHFAE - ANFARARR B BFEITEIN
WEREAREEER  WAAHRAE
RS EEBYEE2019F12A8318
LHFEENSRERBIBELAE -

HE

EREMEREEA

RABPEBLRERNBRRAYMETAE
HEALD -MAMEHENHYSME -
—RME - ARAAA AAEEASNA
TEENSHEEEE HESHEAE
FEHAKAR (LR IBRE - A R EENR
BT RARBITE
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14. LEASES (Continued) 14. & (&)
(a) Right-of-use asset (a) FRAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Company’s right-of-use asset and AArEREEEREERFANE
the movements during the Year are as follows: AT
Office premises
b N/ 3
HK$
BT
As at 1 January 2019 20191 A1 H -
Additions NE 342,771
Depreciation charge ERY (99,975)
As at 31 December 2019 and 201912 A31H R
1 January 2020 20201 A1H 242,796
Depreciation charge TERX (171,385)
As at 31 December 2020 202012 A31 H 71,411
(b) Lease liability (b) HEEE
The carrying amounts of lease liability and the movements REFENHEHEGERAENREE)
during the Year are as follows: (I
2020 2019
2020 £F 20194
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1HEEE 256,486 -
New leases wHEE - 342,771
Payments (BN (179,379) (86,285)
Carrying amount at 31 December W12 A31 BEREE 77,107 256,486
Analysed into: DA
Current portion mENE S 77,107 179,379
Non-current portion ERBIFL D - 77,107
77,107 256,486
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14. LEASES (Continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follow:

14. HE (&)

(0 RESEIERHEHENSHTNOT:

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on lease liability HEABHE 4,101 4,469
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEENERS
asset 171,385 99,975
Lease payments not included in the Kt AHEBEHED
measurements of lease liability HERK 17,204 213,951
Total amount recognised in profit RIBEERM B
or loss 192,690 318,395

15. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

15. BE - AAREREBEKK

RECEIVABLES AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM LR EWERL AFRIE
BROKERS
2020 2019
2020 & 20194
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current; JEE
Deposits Be 72,205 72,205
Current; mE
Prepayments and other receivables TS R B B A R WURR TR
(Note) (B 5E) 4,420,933 283,437
Amounts due from brokers JE U AR 42 A FRIE 500,226 203,762
4,921,159 487,199

Note: As at 31 December 2020, the prepayments and other receivables mainly
comprise redemption receivable of a private equity fund amounted to
HK$2,774,822, namely Quasar Global Selection SPC Fund — Shenzhen Qianhai
Glory Fund SP and HK$ 1,159,200 initial public offering subscription receivable.

As at the end of the reporting period, none of the above receivables

is either past due or impaired.

BisE © 72020 12 A 318 » T 5038 K H b B UL
HEFERELEREES (BARNEE
BUHARRES - FIRIEREBRERS
BUEE) BRI EWNRIE2,774822 B LR E
RN B R FEURIE 1,159,200 % T

RS BR - bl e WO IR I R 8 A =X
HE
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16. B AT {EBBIERIEZ2SH

PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Listed equity securities ITTEEES
— Hong Kong —&E 25,761,027 37,961,240
Listed equity security IR ES
— Australia —EM 3,131,048 2,104,911
Suspended listed equity securities LIEEE FTEEESH
- Hong Kong —&BE 3,798,344 4,198,626
Suspended listed equity security EEEE LRSS
- Australia — M - 2,219,191
Investments in private equity RERFLE R
— British Virgin Islands —RBRIHE 14,068,000 17,133,000
Investments in private equities B WAL R
- Hong Kong —&E 6,787,000 7,250,000
Investments in private equity WERRLERE
— Australia — B — -
Investments in promissory notes REREHZR 17,000,000 -
70,545,419 70,866,968
The fair values of the listed equity securities, except for suspended REEFEEE . LhE=FESHIN - LmiE
listed equity securities, are determined based on the quoted market mEAF N VEIDRBEEBESZS AR
bid prices available on the relevant stock exchanges at the end of the WMEHMRFAIRENTISREETE

reporting period.

The fair values of the suspended listed equity securities as at 31
December 2020 were determined by the board of directors based
on the valuation reports performed by independent qualified
professional valuer. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
an unrealised loss in respect of fair value changes of suspended
listed equity securities amounting to HK$2,619,473 (2019: loss
of HK$1,734,499) was recognised in profit or loss, which was
determined based on the valuation expert’s opinion about the fair
values of these securities as at 31 December 2020.
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted in an
active market. The fair value of the private equities at 31 December
2020 have been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out as at
that date by independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Company. The valuation of the investments in these private
entities used discounted cash flow projections and adjusted net
assets value methods and are within level 3 of fair value hierarchy.
The most significant unobservable inputs are the rate of return on
the investment and forecasted future cash flows.

As at 31 December 2020, three promissory notes with total principal
amount of HK$17,000,000 were outstanding. A promissory note
with a principal amount of HK$15,000,000, which carries interest
of 8% per annum will mature in May 2021. The promissory note
was issued by Gransing Finance Limited, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Gransing Financial Group Limited, a private equity investee of the
Company. The promissory note is covered by personal guarantee
provided by Mr. Kwok Shun Tim, the major shareholder of Gransing
Financial Group Limited.

The fair value of the promissory notes at 31 December 2020 have
been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out as at that date by
the management of the Company. The valuation of the investments
in promissory notes used discounted cash flow projections and
are within level 3 of fair value hierarchy. The most significant
unobservable inputs are the rate of return on the investment and
forecasted future cash flows.

Net unrealised gain on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of HK$9,454,733 (2019: gain of HK$34,405,413) has been
recognised in profit or loss. The Company does not own or control
more than 20% of the voting rights in any one of these listed and
unlisted investments. In the opinion of the Directors, the Company
is not able to exercise any significant influence on the financial and
operating policies of these investee companies, and all of these
listed and unlisted investments are not regarded as associates of the
Company and are accounted for as financial assets through profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2020.

16.

BRAVEEBBESIIRZEH
5E (&)
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15
BY THE COMPANY

Particulars of investments held by the Company as at 31 December 2020F 128318 ARRIBRE L™
2020 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as RABENEREEMBERENGTEN
follows: N

Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/

Proportion of attributable  receivable % of gross
investees Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
ARFER REEE
‘ EBfRE \ . RE/(88) BN/ 50T
FrREARER SBME ARERLA 2 mE BE EYkE SEEEAL
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T T Tt
Financal assets at fair vale through
profit or loss -
EATEERERIR. 2BEE
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
LTER#S-BE
CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited Note a 321% 4,083 4388 HK$0.49 - 5.65
million
HEEBERARDA UBE: 490,000
BT
InvesTech Holdings Limited Note b 2.93% 6,990 3,780 RMB15.59 - 487
million
HABRARAT fizD ARE
15,590,000 7
China Mobile Limited Note ¢ - 4678 3,536 RMB4.49 260 456
million
HEBBERAT e ARE
4,490,00070
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited  Note d 5.98% 4,369 2,863 HK$7.27 - 3.69
million
B BRARRARAT Miitd 7,270,000
BT
Town Health International Medical Group ~ Note e 0.39% 41,835 2,79 HK$14.74 - 360
Limited (Suspended as at 31 December million
2020)
FRERERREARAT Hie 14,740,000
(R2020512A31HEREE) oo
SEM Holdings Limited Note f 1.68% 3573 2,726 MOP4.20 - 351
million
RERRBRAT (iR} RFE
4,200,00070
Listed equity security - Australia
LhgaES-AM
Crater Gold Mining Limited Note g 2.85% 2,609 3,131 AUD(0.15) - 4.03
million
Crater Gold Mining Limited IR (150,000)
B

124 China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2020



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD

17. XA RAFAEZETEREZHE

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable ~ receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the Year  the Company
ARARE  REEE
RRfRE EE/(88) B/ fERT
FRENTER FHME ARERLA 2 Wl BE EURE #EEEAM
HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TAR Thx L
Financial assets at fair valie through
profit or loss (Continueq)
RAFEFBRENE L EREE(E)
Private equity - British Virgin Islands
AERE-ZBRZES
Gransing Financial Group Limited Provision of quality brokerage, 15.53% 42,7199 14,068 HK$19.79 - 18.13
corporate finance, asset millon
management and financial
adviser services to institutional
and individual investors in Hong
Kong and Mainland China
through its subsidliaries
AReRRERRAA RERRAREEAENEL 19,790,000
(FEENEREERRAR) ANBERLAREEREE BT
g MERE HEER
REBERRBEES
Private equity - Hong Kong
hERE-54
Help U Credit Finance Limited Engaged in maney lending 19.95% 19,000 6,390 HK$14.00 - 8.3
business in Hong Kong million
EARBERAR RERUERERR 14,000,000
oo
Promissory note — Hong Kong ERAEE-FB
Interest
received/ % of gross
Market Yield per Maturity  accrued during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business Cost value annum date the Year  the Company
REEE HARRE
B/ BeE
FRENAAR ABME 2 [ Flhiz 38R L HEIES Al
HK$000 HKS$'000 % HK$000
TERL TEn TEL
Gransing Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 15,000 15,000 8 12May2021 766 1933
business in Hong Kong 01 %57128
AREERRAR REERERERE
(FIREREEARAR)
HEFTCERE AR AR / F], 2020
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17. f’%ﬂ%ﬁZi%&ﬁZ%%
]

MR2019%F 12 A31H - AR BRE L/

17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD
BY THE COMPANY (Continued)

Particulars of investments held by the Company as at 31 December

2019 disclosed pursuant to the Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules are as RABENEREEMBERENGTEN
follows: N
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable  receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company theyear  the Company
ADRER REEE
ERfiRE gE/(8R) B/ AR
FREAREH SBME ARERLA B me BE ks SEEEAM
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Financial assets at fair valle through
profit or loss
FATEFERHAE PREE
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
IhERE%-FE
Kin Pang Holdings Limited Engaged in the provision of 4.98% 19,852 10,263 MOP11.40 - 14.24
building and ancillary services million
BEERBRAF FERUBERRERS RF%
11,400,000
Hanvey Group Holdings Limited Engaged in the design and 4.97% 9,830 8,948 HK$3.13 - 1241
development, manufacturing million
and distribution of watch
products
EREEERARLA RERARAS HERDET 3,130,000
$Em B
Power Financial Group Limited Engaged in financial services 2.71% 15,159 6,863 HK$39.75 - 952
business million
ERoREEARLE KEeRRERH 39,750,000
oo
Century Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited Engaged in store operation 1.95% 6,697 4,953 RMB71.08 - 6.87
million
ERE AL ERARAT FEEEHERH N
71,080,00070

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2020



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. AR RAEE 2T ERE 2 H15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable  receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the year  the Company
AARER REEE
REHRRE EE/(88) Bk/  HELT
FREAAEH RBME AREALA 28 [ BE  EURE HEERIM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TERL
Financial assets at fair vale through
profit or loss (Continueq)
EATEERERE 2REE(E)
Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
(Continued)
LhgaR5-8E ()
Town Health International Medical Group ~ Engaged in the provision of 0.39% 41,835 3173 HK$15.66 73 440
Limited (Suspended as at 31 December healthcare and dental services, millon
2019) managed care business and
beauty and cosmetic medicine
business
FEERBESEARAT FERABRERTHES 15,660,000
(R2019512A31BEREE) EREERBEXARH B
InvesTech Holdings Limited Engaged in the provision of 1.08% 3,167 2,754 RIB7.36 - 38
network system integration million
HAERBRAT FERABRZNE AEE
7,860,0007C
Listed equity securities - Australia
Lmgads-an
Dongfang Modem Agriculture Holding Group ~ Carried on business of cultivation 0.19% 3,961 2,219 RMB5.40 - 3.08
Limited (Suspended as at 31 December and sales of navel oranges, millon
2019) pomelos, tangerines and
camellia located in the
Ganzhou in China
RAGREXERERARLA RAEEIETER BT ARE
(R2019% 12831 FEREE) BT RILEHEER 5,400,000
HERK
Crater Gold Mining Limited Engaged in producing gold and 2.85% 2,669 2,105 AUD(0.03) - 29
developing gold and base metal million
projects in Papua New Guinea
and Australia
Crater Gold Mining Limited REASHENTREMESE (30,000
EReRAYECEELEE A
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD 17. KA REE 2T EREZH15

BY THE COMPANY (Continued) (&)
Net asset/ Dividend
(liability) received/
Proportion of attributable  receivable % of gross
investee's Market to the during assets of
Name of investee Nature of business capital owned Cost value Company the year  the Company
ARARE REEE
RRfRE EE/(88) Bk/  HELT
FREAAEH RHHE AREALA B [ BE  EURE HEERIM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TERL
Financial assets at fair vale through
profit or loss (Continueq)
EATEERERE 2REE(E)
Private equity - British Virgin Islands
AERE-2ERLEE
Gransing Financial Group Limited Provision of quality brokerage, 15.53% 42,799 17,133 HK$23.53 - 377
corporate finance, asset million
management and financial
adviser services to institutional
and individual investors in Hong
Kong and Mainland China
through its subsidiaries
ERcasEERAA (M REBRENEEAENER 23,530,000
SHEREERRAR) AmRERILAREEREE AT
B4y 0RRA REER
Ry BERREEHS
Private equity - Hong Kong
nERE-5E
Help U Credit Finance Limited Engaged in money lending 19.95% 19,000 6,530 HK$14.46 - 9.06
business in Hong Kong million
EASBBRAT RERUSEERR 14,460,000
B
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD
BY THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited (“CROSSTEC"”) was incorporated in The
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong (stock code: 3893). CROSSTEC is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture
and facade fabrication, as well as the provision of interior design, project
consultancy and interior solutions services.

For the six months ended 31 December 2020, the unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of CROSSTEC was approximately HK$4 million and its unaudited
net assets attributable to shareholders of CROSSTEC was approximately HK$15
million.

InvesTech Holdings Limited (“InvesTech”) was incorporated in The Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong (stock code:1087). InvesTech is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of network system
integration including the provision of network infrastructure solutions, network
professional services and mobile internet software of mobile office automation
software business, the network equipment rental business, the trading of
telecommunications equipment and money lending business.

For the six months ended 30 June 2020, the unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of InvesTech was approximately RMB67 million and the unaudited
net assets attributable to shareholders of InvesTech was approximately RMB533
million.

China Mobile Limited (“China Mobile”) was incorporated in Hong Kong and
its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
(stock code: 941). China Mobile is principally engaged in telecommunication and
related businesses.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the audited profit attributable to
shareholders of China Mobile was approximately RMB107,843 million and
the audited net assets attributable to shareholders of China Mobile was
approximately RMB 1,148,916 million.

Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Finsoft”) was incorporated in The
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the GEM board of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong (stock code:8018). Finsoft is principally engaged in the provision
of financial trading software solutions.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the audited loss attributable to
shareholders of Finsoft was approximately HK$49 million and the audited net
assets attributable to shareholders of Finsoft was approximately HK$122 million.

17. ARFRB2ETEREZFHE

(&)

fia -

(a)

ZREBRERARAAN(ZE)NRERE
SEMARSZ - E B BB 2 P AR £ (AR
A SR - 3893) ° HEARREERAT - KM
BARERNEHEAND KERSER
EARREHEAR  HEAHALREABRR
7R

HZE2020F12A31BLEAEA  BEKR
TPE AL R4S T A% 85 18 49 /& 4,000,000 75 7T
MOBERREBEEACEZEEFENA
15,000,000 7T °

BERERAR AR ([ N2 ST
B BRI R BB AR T (RO R
5% 1087) - A AR EERBRAR  KNBR
AIERERUBERGRES  BIERHES
HREMERBATR  BEZXRBELEED
MAE BB R EBOBH TR ERT
WERBHEEEY  EEEERERNEE
% o

HZE2020F6 A30H IENEA - EGIAR R TE
EREEZEBL A AR 67,000,000
MEMRREGERCEZEEFENAAR
# 533,000,000 7T °

TREBHERAT ((FEEE]) REEZMN
B AR R BB P AR £ (B (€
5% 941) - MEIBBH T BN EERERAME
% o

HZEZ2020F12A31HILEEE  +HE
RPORFTELLCEZRFNOAARKE
107,843,000,000 7t * if A B7% B i R FE AL 48
FEIXEEFENAARE1,148,916,000,000
e

EMEEKEERERQR ([EH )RR
BERMAKS - BN E BB AT GEM £
(R 5% - 8018) - [EM X BHR HRES
B BUMFRARTE -

HZE2020F12 A31 B ILEE @ [EFRERE
548 22 1% E518 495 49,000,00078 7T * i FE B
P& R E (5 428 1% B 7 FE %94 122,000,000 7

JT °©
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17. PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENTS HELD
BY THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

Town Health International Medical Group Limited (“Town Health”) was
incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong (stock code:3886). Town Health is principally engaged
in the provision of healthcare and dental services, managed care business and
beauty and cosmetic medicine business.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the audited loss attributable to
shareholders of Town Health was approximately HK$281 million and the audited
net assets attributable to shareholders of Town Health was approximately
HK$3,810 million.

Under the direction of the Securities and Futures Commission, the trading
of shares of Town Health has been suspended since 27 November 2017 and
resumed trading since 1 March 2021.

SEM Holdings Limited (“SEM"”) was incorporated in The Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
(stock code: 9929). SEM is principally engaged in the provision of electrical and
mechanical (“E&M") engineering works.

For the six months ended 30 June 2020, the unaudited loss attributable to
shareholders of SEM was approximately MOP6 million and the unaudited net
assets attributable to shareholders of SEM was approximately MOP250 million.

Crater Gold Mining Limited (“Crater Gold Mining”) was incorporated in Australia
and its shares are listed on Australian Securities Exchange (stock code: CGN).
Crater Gold Mining is principally engaged in producing gold and developing gold
and base metal projects in Papua New Guinea and Australia.

For the six months ended 31 December 2020, the unaudited loss attributable
to shareholders of Crater Gold Mining was approximately AUD2 million and the
unaudited net liabilities attributable to shareholders of Crater Gold Mining was
approximately AUD5 million.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2020
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fia -

(e)

(&)
BERERBEEESRAR(REDRER
EMARS - BB Fi?%ﬂﬁ%?aﬁfri*&tﬁ?
(BD1e5% - 3886) - FEfE X BN FIRMHERE
RIRIRG BEEIERBEINER -

HZE2020F 12 A31BIFE - EREBRERE
(H4E =% E 18494 281,000,000 74 7T » M EEfiE
% e (G L i A E R E4) 45 3,810,000,000
BT e

BIFFHFRAEEHERZE ST BRER
% Ezowin)5127E|t§”1=“%1152021
FIATARMEETS -

SBEERAR AR (DRE ) NSRS
AL ERHRE BB AT ER L™ (BRH
5% £ 9929) < RiEF BN FIRMEEE ([H#
BT

EHZE2020F6 A30RIEANAA RERRE
(GRS EIZIB B4 2R P 6,000,000 7T + 1M
RIER RN AREEXEEFEN RIS
250,000,000 7T ©

Crater Gold Mining Limited(Crater Gold
Mining) PSRN GEM B S - E AR5 7N 3
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ehAEERERNSEER -
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18.

19.

20.

21.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18. e RBE£EE
2020 2019
2020 &£ 20194
HK$ HK$
BT 7T
Cash at banks RITE S 2,000,472 403,338

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The cash at banks are placed with DBS Bank (Hong
Kong) Limited and Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the other payables and accruals
were non-interest-bearing and had an average term of less than
three months.

AMOUNTS DUE TO BROKERS

As at 31 December 2020, the amounts due to brokers of
HK$4,659,540 (2019: HK$8,718,501) represents margin accounts
payable to brokers with interest rates of approximately 2.6 % per
annum (2019: 12.125% per annum from 1 January 2019 to 31
October 2019 and 12% per annum from 1 November 2019). As at
31 December 2020, the Company had pledged Hong Kong listed
securities of approximately HK$11 million to secure the margin
payables to the brokers (2019: approximately HK$40 million).

AMOUNT DUE TO A RELATED COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the amount due to a related company
represented management fee payable to the Investment Manager.
The amount was non-interest-bearing and had a repayment term of
less than one month.

19.

20.

21.

RITAESIANERFHRITERMEZ
FEMERBEHAE - RITREEDFAE
RIRTT (BB BERARRARRT (B
B)BRAT] -

Ht BN RERETER

PR2020% % 2019412 A31H » HibfE
NFIB R ERTE R TR R B & F
HIDR=M@A -

PSR AFKRIE

MR2020F 12 A31H BN &4 ARAE
4,659,540 7T (20194 : 8,718,501 5
TO) NS ARBEIRR 25 RE
S FMELE2.6E (2019 : 142019
F1A1HE2019F 10 A31 BIRF =X
12125 X% B 20194 11 A1 BRIZFEF
R12[E)FHE 2020128318 K
NRIBEMEE LTEZF4 11,000,000
7 IC (20194 © 4940,000,000 78 7T ) LA &
REMERLAZRES -

P — B E D R FIE
MN2019F 12 A31H BN —MEEER

AIREERNREEEANEEE ° %
AT E RERHRDR—EA -
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 22. BB AERTE
The Company’s Share Option Scheme was adopted on 1 June 2015, RIER 20154 5 528 HE 1T 2 IR ARl
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary A LFEBAZERRER  ARRIER
general meeting held on 28 May 2015. REETEIN 2015 6 A 1 BERL -
The limit of the number of securities which may be issued upon R IE B R A 8 K T b B AR AE =T 2
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised BREEAFITEZHARITEERERES
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes must not BITREETETCESFBAERE T
exceed 30% of the relevant class of securities of the Company in BHRBARR TR EITHBERNZES
issue from time to time. 230% °
Details of the share options granted by the Company under the ARAANFEERBEBRESSIMARRF
Share Option Scheme to the employees of the Company and the RERB - BRERFEERECZY
movement in such holdings during the Year were as follows: FEIBAT
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Cancelled/  Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised lapsed as at
Date of Exercisable Exercise 1 January during during during 31 December % of
Participant grant period price 2020 the Year the Year the Year 2020  issued shares
R2020% R2020%
1A18 AEE 128318 BRAKRH
SHE REAE  7ES i@ MATE  AEERE  KEEGE  HE/AX HARTE BAl
Employees 19/7/2019 19/7/2019- 0.2985* 7421 446* - - - 7,421,446 123
18/7/2029
€& 2019F 20195
7H198 TH19EZ
2009F
7R188
Employees 17/1/2020 171/2020- 0.2432% - 3,710,723* - - 3,710,723 0.62
16/1/2021
€& 2000F 20005
1R178 11782
2015
1H16H
7421 446* 3,710,723* - - 11,132,169 185
* The exercise price and the amount of share options had been adjusted due to * BRENTEERSEEADBIN2020F 4
the share consolidation and rights issue completed in April 2020 and May 2020 A % 20204 5 A ST B AR (9 & OF R AR AR i 1F
respectively. HFH%E -
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The fair value of 3,710,723 share options (as adjusted) granted
under the Share Option Scheme on 17 January 2020 was
determined to be approximately HK$284,000 with reference to a
valuation performed by an independent firm of professional valuer
using a binomial model. The Company recognised a share option
expense HK$284,000 during the year ended 31 December 2020.
The inputs into the model included grant date adjusted share price
of HK$0.234, adjusted exercise price HK$0.2432 per share, expected
volatility of 81.90% determined based on historical volatility of the
Company’s shares, expected option life of one year, no expected
dividend and estimated risk-free interest rate of 1.58%.

The fair value of 7,421,446 share options (as adjusted) granted
during the year ended 31 December 2019 under the Share Option
Scheme on 19 July 2019 was determined to be approximately
HK$1,117,000 with reference to a valuation performed by an
independent firm of professional valuer using a binomial model.
The Company recognised a share option expense HK$1,117,000
during the year ended 31 December 2019. The inputs into the model
included grant date adjusted share price of HK$0.2808, adjusted
exercise price of HK$0.2985 per share, expected volatility of 65.51%
determined based on historical volatility of the Company’s shares for
the past 510 weeks, expected option life of ten years, no expected
dividend and estimated risk-free interest rate of 1.41%.

There is no vesting period of the share options granted and the
share options outstanding as at 31 December 2020 has an average
adjusted exercise price of HK$0.2985 and HK$0.2432.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 11,132,169 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 1.85% of the Company’s
share in issue as of that date.

22, BERRRESTEI(48)

720204 1 A 17 BIRIRRERRERT I B
13,710,723 (BB A T B (KA
Th2E—RBYARNEEGEMER
—IEAER T EREE B4 284,000
FEIT B E 2020 12 A31 BIEEE A
N RHEREEIRER ¥ 284,000/8 7T © %18
AN ASERERFL BBANERAE
REFR0.234B T - KRABITEETR
0.2432 87 - TEERK 18 81.90% (JhIRIE
RATIROELRIRMET) - BHE
PEREFHER 1 F - WETBHARR B RIG TR
B F|ZK1.58% o

#H2019F 12 A31HIEFE - K2019
F7TRAIOBREBEREFEFZLE®
7,421,446 (R BEAR R A FE (KEFE) Ty
2E-—RBIUAFNBEGBEMEAS
BAEAETHHEEE AL 1,117,000
BIL EZE2019F 12 A31HIEFE A
NEFERIERERSZ 1,117,000 7T © %
EANEAZEBERE LD B LR
BRE N 0.2808 8 7T « & FABEITHEE
FR%0.2985 7 7T * TR 18 65.51% (JY
RIBEARRBRMD R BAS108 8 FE 2K
BmMEE)  EHBRETFHI0OF  1E
TEERRR B R A EH PR K 1.41% o

EERHMERETESRES K 2020
F12 A 31 BRI ARITE 2 BREN L
HEELTIE(E A 0.2985 8T M 0.2432 /87T »

REZEZVBHREBE  ARFIHAR
BEERESSTENBERESRAS
11,132,16910 - (h A R AR &% B B & 17
B #71.85% °
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23. ISSUED CAPITAL 23. EBITRAE
Number of Nominal
shares amount
R A H{E
HK$
BT
Issued and fully paid BEITRER
Ordinary shares of nominal amount 72020612 A31 BER
HK$0.04 each at 31 December 2020 EH0.04 87T .2 EEAR 600,149,228 24,005,969
Ordinary shares of nominal amount MR2019F 12 A31BERE
HK$0.01 each at 31 December 2019 H1{E0.01 /87T 2 EimAk 1,388,246,794 13,882,468
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as RARIRAE BT -
follows:
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
28T
R EE BRTRE R 13 % E R HY
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
At 1 January 2019 R2019F1A1H 1,168,246,79 11,682,468 108,512,129 120,194,597
Placing of shares (Note (a)) R &R (A () 220,000,000 2,200,000 19,800,000 22,000,000
Share issue expenses BRAETRY - - (771,694) (771,694)
At 31 December 2019 and 2019512 4318 R
1 January 2020 20205118 1,388,246,794 13,882,468 127,540,435 141,422,903
Share consolidation (Note (b)) Bt & 0 (FI3E (b)) (1,041,185,096) - - -
Rights issue (Note (c)) AR (135 (0) 253,087,530 10,123,501 30,370,503 40,494,004
At 31 December 2020 2020612 A318 600,149,228 24,005,969 157,910,938 181,916,907
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23. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

On 14 March 2019, a total of 220,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
were placed at a price of HK$0.10 per share (the “Placing Shares”) for a total
cash consideration, before the related issue expense, of HK$22,000,000. The
issued and fully paid capital of the Company was increased to HK$13,882,468
and resulted in a share premium of HK$19,800,000, before deducting the share
placement expense of HK$771,694. The net proceeds of the Placing Shares,
after deduction of the costs of the Company, were subsequently applied for
the investment in line with its ordinary course of business and pursuant to the
investment objectives of the Company and for the general working capital of the
Company to meet the running expenses of the Company such as rental and staff
costs.

On 7 April 2020, the Company completed share consolidation of every four
issued and unissued share of par value HK$0.01 each into one consolidated
share of par value of HK$0.04, the authorised share capital of the Company
became HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 25,000,000,000 consolidated shares of
HK$0.04 each, of which 347,061,698 consolidated shares had been in issue, the
board lot size for trading on the Stock Exchange changed from 20,000 shares to
10,000 consolidated shares.

On 15 May 2020, the Company had raised an approximately HK$39.6 million,
net of expenses by way of the rights issue of 253,087,530 rights shares on the
basis of one rights share for every one consolidated share at the subscription
price of HK$0.16 per rights share.

23. EBITRA (&)

W

(a)

MR2019F 3148 ARAREERER
0.107% LB & 4 #£220,000,000 8 & & m
Boo BT EBER ([RERMD] - K
EMEReNRE(NMEBE@ETHI A
22,000,000 7T ° ANA B8 2 81T REUE R
7N 18 %513,882,468 78 T B A AR 15 5 (B BR
19,800,000 7T (N B D ER & 2 771,694
PETCAT) o BRI (D KBTS ROIEF 5 (R AR
REIM AL ) BERARIBEA R RHEE B ZAR
HEHBBESBREZRE BRARART
—REEESUBNARRI 2L BHRY (0
HEREIHRA) -

MR2020F4 878  AQREAEEEBEE
f&EE0.01 w2 B BT RAEITIRNE
A—REREME.MBITZAMHKND AR
A2 R ERR AR # % 5 1,000,000,000 7 7T © 5
/25,000,000,000 % H X E{E0.04 B L2 &
BER% 1 - B AP B B17347,061,698 1% & ff ik
7 RBRFEE 28 F 8 & ¥ A1H20,000
A% 17 B 24 4 10,000 B & GF %D ©

M2020F 54150 RARE BB A
75 = % 17 253,087,530 % i B i 19 (12 T 4%
B BREHROERE —RERRBRMHZEER
REEASREREM0.167T) » BEL
39,600,000 7T (FIR &) -
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24. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

25.

The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the net assets
of the Company as at 31 December 2020 of HK$71,112,713 (2019:
HK$61,441,400) and on 600,149,228 ordinary shares being in issue
as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 1,388,246,794 ordinary shares).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party transactions detailed elsewhere
in these financial statements, the Company had the following
transactions with related parties during the Year:

Investment Manager — China Everbright Securities (HK)
Limited

The Investment Manager is responsible to manage, supervise and
direct the investment, disposition and re-investment of the assets of
the Company, on a discretionary basis, but subject to the investment
objective and restrictions of the Company. The Investment Manager
is entitled to receive management fees for its respective services in
terms of the agreement dated 20 December 2019. Details of the
fees to which the Investment Manager is entitled are provided in
Note 11 to the financial statements. The Directors consider the key
management personnel of the Company comprise of its Board of
Directors, whose remuneration is shown in Note 8 to the financial
statements.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

26. RERE S EMTIE

LM TABRNNHRE YR ZKREELD

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: ™~
2020 2020 &
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAYE bi's 5
EREBHIE ARSI 2
ZERMEE SREE Bzt
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Financial assets included in deposits FAREMEREE - 72,205 72,205
Other receivables H b R - 4,118,049 4,118,049
Amounts due from brokers JEU AR 42 AR - 500,226 500,226
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AT EEBEZRSIKRZ
TREE 70,545,419 - 70,545,419
Cash and cash equivalents ReLHeEE - 2,000,472 2,000,472
70,545,419 6,690,952 77,236,371
Financial liabilities SRIBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
2 48 85 B A< 51 AR
ZEEAE
HK$
BT
Other payables and accruals Hin e IE R ETE RS 1,761,306
Amounts due to brokers JET £S48 AFRIB 4,659,540
Lease liability HEARE 77,107
6,497,953

B EREBR AR / F1R 2020

7



Notes to Financial Statements

P

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 26. RERE €M I A (&)
(Continued)
2019 20194
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets Financial
at fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BATE g3
FRBRE AR 2
JEREE SREE Bt
HK$ HK$ HK$
B B BT
Financial assets included in deposits HARENERERE - 72,205 72,205
Amount due from brokers [E YIS 42 AFIA - 203,762 203,762
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ~ EATFEEBERNEZEHEE 70,866,968 - 70,866,968
Cash and cash equivalents BehBeEE - 403,338 403,338
70,866,968 679,305 71,546,273
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RSN AR
ZeRmBE
HK$
BT
Other payables and accruals HEMENAFIAERETER 1,496,119
Amount due to brokers FEA #E 42 A FRIE 8,718,501
Amount due to a related company FET —EREE R EFIE 160,000
Lease liability HEBE 256,486
10,631,106

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2020




Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 27. A¥{EFE
(a) Fair value hierarchy (a) AFEZEH

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining RARMERA T EREERERS
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments: BT HE 2 AFE
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets F—H-rHHEEKBERER
for identical assets or liabilities 58 ME CREFHE)
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input FEoR—HEKTF@ABEEELH
that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or ERTEREE BHATEHEZ
indirectly observable B &R G E R
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level F=B—FEKFRABRTAIH
of input that is significant to the fair value measurement is RYE - BEHRATEFEBERD
unobservable (EXEES30]

31 December 2020
20205128318

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F-R E-R E=R @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value BRATEEBERIIEL
through profit or loss: SREE:
Listed il
- Equity securities -BuEH 28,892,075 - 3,798,344 32,690,419
Unlisted FLEm
— Private equities —TLERE - - 20,855,000 20,855,000
— Promissory notes - REER - - 17,000,000 17,000,000
28,892,075 - 41,653,344 70,545,419
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

27. A¥{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

31 December 2019
2019%F 12 A31H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-4 FH E=R ey
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at fair value BRATEERERFIRL
through profit or loss: SREE
Listed i}
- Equity securities -BaEH 40,066,151 - 6,417,817 46,483,968
Unlisted FLm
- Private equities — TR - - 24,383,000 24,383,000
40,066,151 - 30800817 70,866,968

When fair values of listed and quoted investments at the
reporting date are based on quoted market prices in active
market, without any deduction for transaction costs, the
instruments are within Level 1 of the hierarchy.

When fair values of equity securities at the reporting date
represent quoted prices in market that are considered less
than active or consensus prices derived by third parties using
valuation techniques where all significant inputs are directly or
indirectly observable from market data, those equity securities
are included within Level 2 of the hierarchy.

For all other financial instruments, the Company determines
fair value using valuation techniques.
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Valuations are the responsibility of the Board of Directors of
the Company. The valuation of investments in the suspended
listed equity securities, the private equity securities and
promissory notes are performed by management of the
Company and reviewed by the investment committee of
the Company. The investment committee considers the
appropriateness of the valuation method and inputs, and
may request alternative valuation methods applied to support
the valuation arising from the method chosen. Any changes
in valuation methods are discussed and agreed with the
Company’s Board of Directors.

The fair value of suspended investments for which there is an
absence of quoted price, was estimated by the management
using guideline publicly traded comparable method (“GPTC")
or adjusted net assets value method, as appropriate.

In the GPTC method, the fair value is based on prices of stocks
of similar companies which are trading in a public market. A
“value measure”, which is usually a multiple computed by
dividing the price of the guideline company’s stock as at the
valuation date by some relevant economic variable observed or
calculated from the guideline company’s financial statements,
is then applied to the investee’s economic variable and the
resultant valuation is then adjusted by a marketability discount
to arrive at the fair value measurement of the suspended
investments. Such valuation methods are generally accepted
in the industry. The model incorporates unobservable data
inputs, which include market value of invested capital multiples
and the marketability discount ratio, as described below.

27. A¥{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

HEDBARRESFENEE-E
FEEZ EMRERES  LERE
EF SRR EER 2R ENGETH
ARBEREET  UKHARA
REZBSEHN REZREEER
HEDERBAENSEN  HE
ZREREMEETEAIFRIE
P& R ETMERM M E - el
BN EEPHOEARAEESE
KREE -

HWEEFETE 2 RELEBE  RIHE
NHEHEEEBERRARESAE
bgtEsl [RARAESEA & LEBE
Sl ERAEREEFEN A (WA
EDRE SET

ERAEEAALEIESDET A
FETIABURREART SR
EEERARIE - [BEE]8
FREGR  HEitETEARNE
5| ARIREE BB AR B R IA
ezt AR B RERTFERE L
AEMENE THBLEZS B
REANAIRE R AR BEE -
MALELENEELT S RAEE
FERE  UBHEFEEZRE
MAFEME - ZAEERERAR
R REIEE T XA T A B
BB AE(BREMREANTE
EMGRBEIER)
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Company invested in private equities which are not quoted
in an active market. The fair value of the private equities at 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019 have been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out as at that date by
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Company. The valuation of the investments in these private
entities used discounted cash flows (“DCF") projections under
income approach based on estimates made by management of
the Company and adjusted net assets value (“Adjusted NAV")
method under cost approach as appropriate and are within
level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

The Company invested in promissory notes which are not
quoted in an active market. The fair value of the promissory
notes at 31 December 2020 have been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out as at that date by the management
of the Company. The valuation of the investments in these
promissory notes used DCF projections based on principal and
interest outstanding made by management of the Company as
appropriate and are within level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

A DCF analysis involves forecasting the appropriate future cash
flow streams over an appropriate period and then discounting
it back to a present value at an appropriate discount rate.
This discount rate should consider the time value of money,
inflation, and the risk inherent in ownership of the asset or
security interest being valued.

The Adjusted NAV method calls for a summation of the fair
values of all assets belonging to an entity and a reduction of
that aggregate by the fair values of that entity’s total liabilities.
The fair value is represented by the adjusted book value of
total assets net of liabilities owed to any person other than the
beneficial owners of the subject company, after adjusting for
any necessary discounts or premiums to the book values of the
assets and liabilities to reflect their market values.

China New Economy Fund Limited / Annual Report 2020

27. A¥{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

RATFIRE O EREEZIRE
PR B T 3% R A B R (B o 722020 4
12 A31H X&2019412 8318 -
FLEREH AT ETIERERA A
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AIE R EEM R 2 W AR AR
RIEE7 ([MIRRER ) TR RAR
BRAEHAAREEFE ([FAE
BEFEDFEWERE) ETHE
B WRRAFESERZE=FA -

KRBT E B S R ERIRE
PR 1) T 35 P 0 M SR 1B 0 7R 20204F
12A318  AHEZBENAFETD
ERANGIEEERZAELHE
EFFESE - RREEALER 2
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

27. A¥{EFTE (&)

(a)

Quantitative information of significant unobservable

inputs — Level 3

DFEER ()

EATUBFEBAEBZEEEH -

E=R

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
TERTBE TABEZHAEH
i 88 DVE fEERN BAE WAEEE AVEZHEZ
HK$'000
Tt
As at 31 December 2020
®2020512A31H
Equity security in Hong Kong 2,795  Guideline Market value of 3.12  Higher the EBITDA,
publicly traded invested capital higher the fair value
comparable multiples to
method EBITDA
BERERES 2,795 LHAIELR FrRER A 312 EBITDAME -
3l FLAEBITDA RHEER
Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability

discount

5B R YT %

75%

T A

discount, lower the
fair value

TR BRI ALE
AT EBE
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 27. X ¥{EFHE (&)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEAFJBEEWABZEEER —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
TERTBE TABEZHAEH
i 88 DVE fEERN BAE WAEEE AVEZHEZ
HK$'000
TR
As at 31 December 2020
(Continued)

742020512 318 (%)

Equity security in Hong Kong 440  Guideline Market value of 0.53  Higher the Sales, higher
publicly traded invested capital the fair value
comparable multiples to Sales
method

ERRGES 440 FHAIEHLR FIiRER A 053 HEEHS-

155l% FIAHER ATEER
Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
mERBENE 75% MHSRBENELS
AT EBE

Equity security in Hong Kong 563 Adjusted net assets  Lack of control 75%  Higher the lack of

value method discount control discount,

lower the fair value
ABERES 563 WHEEEZERE BIEERE 75% e RS R
& AEESE
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

27. A¥{EFTE (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) () AFESHEA)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable EATTEBFEWAEBZEEER -
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)
Relationship of
Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input fair value
TERTHE THBEERAER
i 8 DVE fRERMN BAE BAEEE AVEZBEZ
HK$'000
T
As at 31 December 2020
(Continued)
14202012 A318 (&)
Unlisted equity securities 14,465  Discounted cash Discount rate for 15% to 15.36%  Higher the discount
flows discounting rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
FEMRSES 14,465 BBAER BRMARETE 15% £1536% MRXHS -
ZHRE ATEBE
Discount rate 25% t030%  Higher the discount
for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value
ROTSREMES 5% E30% HOmERAELY
BB & BEREES
AT EBE
Unlisted equity securities 6,390 Adjusted net assets  N/A NA  N/A
value method
RS s 6390 REBEEZERE TER NER  AEA
Promissory notes 17,000 Discounted cash Discount rate for 19.11% to  Higher the discount
flows discounting 29.08% rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
ERRR 17,000 BERRER MR RERE 19.11%E BRZES
ZHRE 2008%  AFEBE
HEFTCERE AR AR / F], 2020 145
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 27. AR EFE (&)

(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEAFJBEEWABZEEER —
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)

146

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
TERTBE TABEZHAEH
i 88 AYE HERN BAE WAEEE AVEZHEZ
HK$'000
T
As at 31 December 2019
R2019612A31H
Equity securities in Hong Kong 3,173 Guideline Market value of 5.72  Higher the EBITDA,
publicly traded invested capital higher the fair value
comparable multiples to
method EBITDA
EEERES 3173 LHAIELR FIREAZME 572 EBITDAME -
3l FLAEBITDA RHEER
Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
miGnEEE 75% THRARNELS
AVESE
Equity securities in Hong Kong 460  Guideline Market value of 0.57  Higher the Sales, higher
publicly traded invested capital the fair value
comparable multiples to Sales
method
ERRGES 460 FHAIELR FIiRER A 057 HEEHS
155l% FIAHER ATEER
Marketability 75%  Higher the marketability
discount discount, lower the
fair value
mERBENE 75% TERBENELS
ATEBIE
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 27. X ¥{EFHE (&)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable BEAFJBEEWABZEEEHR -
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) F=4R(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
TERTHE TUBRHAEE
P AYE HERN WAE BAEEE AVEZBEZ
HK$'000
THT
As at 31 December 2019
(Continued)
142019512 A31A ()
Equity securities in Hong Kong 566 Adjusted net assets  Lack of control 75%  Higher the lack of
value method discount control discount,

lower the fair value

BRRGES 566 RAREBEFEFE RTEGIEME 75% BRZEHETELS
AT EBE

Equity securities in Australia 2,219 Market approach Marketability 35%  Higher the marketability

discount discount, lower the

fair value

BN ERES 2219 W% mSREENE 35% MSRBENELS
AT EBE
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 27. A¥{EE (&)
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
Quantitative information of significant unobservable EATHEEAAEZEEZH -
inputs — Level 3 (Continued) E=4(E)

Relationship of

Key unobservable
Valuation unobservable Value of inputs to
Description Fair value techniques inputs input  fair value
FEFTTEE FABRBAEER
9t 8 AYE HERN BAE WAEEE ATEZBE
HK$'000
TR
As at 31 December 2019
(Continued)
742019512 318 (%)
Unlisted equity securities 17,853  Discounted cash Discount rate for 15%  Higher the discount
flows discounting rate, lower the fair
estimated cash value
flows
FELEmERES 17,853 MEBRER BREHARERE 15% MREHS
ZHBE ATESE
Discount rate 25% t030%  Higher the discount
for lack of rate of lack of
marketability marketability, lower
the fair value
RAOTIH B 25%F30% HROTHRMILH
BHRE HEREYS
DTHEBIE
Unlisted equity securities 6,530 Adjusted net assets  N/A NA  NA
value method
FLTHRES 6530 BEEEFENE THER @R TER
The fair value measurements of the investments in private LERE EEEE LMERE
equities, suspended listed equity securities and promissory HFRAHEBIRE 2 AT EFT 2
notes are recognised as Level 3 fair value measurements. REB=HBATETFE -
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27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The movements in fair value measurements in Level 3 during
the Year are as follows:

27. A¥{EFTE (&)

(a)

DFEER ()

AFEESHATESELBH N
™

2020 2019

2020 20194

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 January ®1A1H 30,800,817 37,244,312
Purchases BE 20,941,000 -
Sell HE (2,798,916) -
Transfer from level 1 to level 3 ME—REREE = = 3,643,900
Total loss recognised in profit and loss T8 %5 NFER 2 B3 1B 4858 (7,289,557) (10,087,395)
At 31 December 12 A31H 41,653,344 30,800,817

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, the total
gains or losses recognised, including those for assets held at
the end of reporting period, are presented in profit or loss
in “net change in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”.

During the Year, there were no transfers between Level 1,
Level 2 and Level 3 of fair value measurement.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company reclassified one
listed equity security from Level 1 to Level 3 following the
suspension of trading of the investment. The financial asset is
namely Dongfang Modern Agriculture Holding Group Limited.

Transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy, are deemed to
have occurred at the end of the reporting period.

AR AHEERBRIIRZERE
EME  CHRZWaERERE
(BRERBERRABAFEEZ
Wk E1E) IR BEA 2R
NHEBBERIIRZEMEER
FEZFFE] -

RAFE  F—F F_HZRE=
Az B BEERNTEAE -

M2019F 12 A31H » AAA K —
XETREFFNBREEERS
% HE-—REFOBERE=L-
ZeMEERRRARREERR
SEERRAA

RHEERERZHN BB S
RBEMRDEE -

B EREBR AR / F1R 2020

149



Notes to Financial Statements

B H5 Rk B et

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

27. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 27. RVEFHE ()
(a) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) AFEZSH(E)
The following table shows the total amount of all transfers of TREIABRATFEBRE &
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss from Level 1 EBREFE=ANEATFEBBER
to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: PR S REEMLTE

Transfer from Level 1 to Level 3

RE-REBREE=R

2020 2019
2020 F 20194
Financial assets at fair value through ERAFEERERYIE
profit or loss ZERMEE
— Listed equity security — EmiERES - 3,643,900
The amount shown above represented the fair values based on NEFMTREBERRGEEZANER
last traded price of the security prior to trade suspensions. Br&EXHEBHNATE-
During the Year, there were no transfer of fair value RAFEE  F—HEE-_HRFE
measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into FrEc Bl E=fA¥E
or out of Level 3 fair value measurement. FrETMEE A e o
During the year ended 31 December 2019, there were BEZE2019F12A31HLEFE -
HK$3,643,900 transfer from Level 1 to Level 3 fair value 3,643900 B LEFE —REREEE
measurements. =N ERFE -
The Company did not have any financial liabilities measured at A A 20204F K 2019412 A
fair value as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. 31 BB EAEAFEFEN S/

BE-
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28. NOTE TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 28. BERERME

(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) FEFEREXRS

RAEE  AATWESBRAE
MERETHNERARELEEREE
BEIERSARE (20194 1 342,771

During the Year, the Company did not have non-cash
additions to right-of-use asset and lease liability, in respect of
lease arrangements for office premises (2019: HK$342,771).

BT °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) RERMEIBZEEEEH

Lease liability

HEAE

HK$

7T

At 1 January 2019 20191 A1 R -
Repayment of principal portion of lease liability ~ EEHEE&EHN AL D (86,285)
Non-cash movements R 342,771
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 7201912 H31H X% 202051 A1 H 256,486
Repayment of principal portion of lease liability ~— EZEHEABHNAEID (179,379)
At 31 December 2020 7202012 H31H 77,107

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 29. IR BREEAERBE

AND POLICIES

The Company’s objective in managing risk is the creation and
protection of shareholders’ value. The ultimate responsibility in
defining and maintaining the Company’s risk control framework,
setting the appropriate risk parameters for the Company and in
continuously monitoring compliance of the Company’s portfolio with
the investment objective and policies and investment restrictions lies
with the Board of Directors of the Company, that will be advised by
the Investment Manager.

A risk committee consisting of executive director and an
independent non-executive director has been formed to monitor the
operational and portfolio risks to the Company. The risk committee
will monitor the Investment Manager including reviewing whether
the investment objective and policies and investment restrictions
are being followed by the Investment Manager. In case of any
deviation, the risk committee will discuss deviations with the
Investment Manager immediately and monitor any agreed remedial
action. For all material deviations the risk committee will formulate
recommendations to the Board on the appropriate remedial actions
to be made. The risk committee will meet on a monthly basis, or
more regularly if a meeting is requested by any risk committee
member.

RRATEERER B F T 81E R RER
REE - ARAEETGEBERATELRE
RARHEBRZEFER REARAE
HNRBR2HBEFEERERARANKRE
MAEBREREBFRBERMRE R
MERET REEEARILRNES=ZS

RHER -

ARFRERIEBREZES  KEBREH
TEFRBIUFNTES  UEEAR
AMEERREAARER -BREES
RERREEEANKE  BREEAR
EEEANERERKE BRRBRRMK
ERS - A EMNRESE RREEEH
Bl B & B IR AR RBEIB AL B
ERERZEMHFEIMITE - BRAEEX
MiREEEL  AREZBERAEZSR
HERBGEE BRITBHNESR - RREZER
eBARE R MEMARRKREESX
BERASENEHEZREK -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 29. BIERMEEREEREE ()

152

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and
the value of individual securities. The Company is exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as
listed equity securities and investment in private equities which are
classified in the statement of financial position as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss in Note 16 as at the end of the
reporting period.

The sensitivity analysis below demonstrates management’s best
estimate of the effect on the loss and net assets attributable to equity
holders of the Company due to a reasonably possible change in
equity indices or fair values of the listed investments with all other
variables held constant. In practice, the actual trading results may
differ from the sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be
material.

Listed equity securities

The Company's investments in listed equity securities are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and Australian Securities Exchange.

The market equity indices for the following stock exchanges, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end of
the reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the years were as follows:

IR R B E R

MR R BT EREIEEOKTE RER
EHEEZHMBERNE=ESLSLATE
TERE R - NS BRA R A T E
WREEERERIRE SRR ENERER
B ZERESERLITRESESFER
MR EANERE AT EE BB
AeBMEEINR 2 ALERERE (M
16) ©

UNTERESHINTEEMBEEMES
FRETENBERT  EEEHRFZEH
FETREZATFEAEBAEESHTE
ARAREDRFEARIGEBEREREEFE
FrERM & EM[G - EEEF  BEREXS
ERNEGETINHRESTEMAE
ERYGEKX -

L EF

ARRZ LTEREFREINE B
R RRMNE SRR ST LT o

FAZRERRORZARH AL ERFH
BREF THBERZANTISRER
B UARERAFESEBNGRE &R
ZhanT

31 December 2020 High/low
2020412 831H &/
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index B -EEIEH 27,231.13  29,174.92/21,139.26
31 December 2019 High/low
2019412 A31H =,/ 1K

Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index BB BEER
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AND POLICIES (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)
Listed equity securities (Continued)

2020

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

29.

IR R E A% A b ()
LR ES (F)
2020 F

% of reasonable

possible change
of the relevant

HHRREEEERBE (H)

Change in loss
and net assets

Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
HEEEEHEE BEREEFEEZH
HETSER E¢ AIRER BN E DL (BRBEIIE S E AT
HK$
BT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index ~ && — B4 8EK 0.379 +10 +1,238,967
2019 2019 F
% of reasonable
possible change Change in loss
of the relevant and net assets
Relevant market index Beta benchmark index (before tax effect)
EREERSAE BEKEEFEE
BT S E & Uk AEEEHNE DL (BB E A
HK$
AT
Hong Kong — Hang Seng Index & — 184 5 0.276 +10 +1,443,078
Private equities HERE

At 31 December 2020, the loss (2019: loss) before tax would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$2,085,500 for the private
equities (2019: HK$2,438,300) should the fair values of the

investments increase/decrease by 10% (2019: 10%).

M2020F 12 A31H - Wi EZRFE
R/ T 10% (20194 : 10% ) * Fh
Stz BT ATEE (20194 : Ei8)
B,/ 1 AN49 2,085,500 7T (2019 4F :
2,438,300 7T) °
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES BREREEBEERBEEK (&)

154

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Company will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
Exposure to liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the
Company could be required to pay its liabilities earlier than expected.
To limit this risk, management monitors the Company’s liquidity
position from time to time.

The Company aims to maintain sufficient cash to meet its liquidity
requirements by the ongoing monitoring of cash positions and
future cash flows. The following table summarises the maturity
profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within six months equal their
carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting is insignificant. The
table also analyses the maturity profile of the Company’s financial
assets (undiscounted where appropriate) in order to provide a
complete view of the Company’s contractual commitments and
liquidity.

The maturity grouping of financial liabilities is based on the
remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. When a counterparty has a choice of
when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest
period in which the Company can be required to pay.

Analysis of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss into
maturity groupings is based on the expected date on which these
assets will be realised. For other assets, the analysis into maturity
groupings is based on the remaining period from the end of the
reporting period to the contractual maturity date or, if earlier, the
expected date on which the assets will be realised.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 29. BIERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REELEE (F)
At 31 December 2020 72020512 A31H
3to Contractual Total
Less than less than 1t05 No fixed  undiscounted arrying
On demand 3months 12 months years maturity  cash flows amount
3ERE BER  AHAMR
REX  OM3fER  HWNER 125% 4R Reiig REAE
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS

A An An B An A7 A

Finandial assets indluded in deposits HAEEHEREE - - - 72,005 - 72,205 72,005
Other receivables EfpElzE - 138w - - T8 4118049 4,118,049
Amounts due from brokers BIEa \3R 461,302 38,924 - - - 500,226 500,226
Financial assets at far value through RATEERER)IR,

profit or loss SREE 28,892,075 2,000,000 15,000,000 3798344 20855000 70,545,419 70545419
Cash and cash equivalents BelissE 2,000472 - - - - 2000472 2000472
Total financial assets SHARSE 3353849 338151 15000000 3870549 2362982 71236311 71.2363M
Other payebles and accruals EfbErERETER 1,098,028 663,278 - - - 1761306 1,761,306
Amounts due to brokers EREEAGE 4,595,284 64,256 - - - 4659540 4,659,540
Lease liablfy 8k - 45,870 31,566 - - 71436 7707
Total financial liailities PBEELE 5,693,312 173,404 31,566 - - 6,498,282 6,497,953
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 29. BIERMEEREEREE ()
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REELEE (F)
At 31 December 2019 2019512 A31H
3t Contractual Total
Less than less than 105 Nofied  undiscounted aning
On demand 3 months 12 months years maturity cash flows amount
3fARE BET ANARE
BREL W3R SR2ER 1552 548 Beig ERAE
HKS HK$ HKS HKS HK$ HKS HKS

£ o BT £ o BT £

Financial assets included in deposits TAEENLRERE - - - 72,205 - 72,205 72,205
Amount due from brokers Bl \5E 76,722 127,040 - - - 203,762 203762
Financial assets at far value through ROTERRAR)E L

profit orloss SRAE 40,086,151 - - GATRIT 24383000 70866968 70,866,968
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEA 403338 - - - - 403338 403338
Total finandial assets cREESRE 40,546,211 127,040 S BA0022 24383000 71546273 71546073
Other payables and accruals AMERFERETER - 149,19 - - - 1496119 1496119
Amount due to brokers EREEAE 8,718,501 - - - - BTIBSOT 8718501
Amount due to a related company ER-REELTHE - 160,000 - - - 160,000 160,000
Lease liabilty HEak - 45,870 137610 77436 - 260916 256,486
Total financial libiltes CREELE 8,718,501 1,701,989 137610 7743 - 106355% 10,631,106
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31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
and future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
interest rates.

The majority of the Company’s interest rate exposure arises from
cash and cash equivalents and margin accounts payable to brokers.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s
profit or loss for the year to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant. The sensitivity of the
profit or loss for the year (before tax) is the effect of the assumed

9. B EBREEBEERBE (&)

2= = Bz

NMERRESRTIANKKEZTEN
BEREE ™IS H R E MR R

ARRABAFMMERBRRERE KRS
FEMENGLCARESRAE -

THEHB EHA LSRR TR -
ARAARFEIEHGFIEO A A BE
B BB - AR 128 (BB A AR
EREFENBREBUTIEENY

changes in interest rates on: %z

ERBERARAFFREMAMZ —
FRFSFE -

- The net interest for one year, based on the net cash position —
held at the end of the reporting period.

-~ Changes in fair value of investments for the year, based on - ERBEHREATEREREEZ
revaluing fixed rate financial assets at the end of the reporting FREEQNTFEES -
period.
In practice, the actual trading results may differ from the below EE L BERRZEEE T GHR
sensitivity analysis and the difference could be significant. EatTEMERNBEEZBERARE -
Sensitivity  Sensitivity of
of interest changes in
Change in income/ fair value of
Net exposure basis point (expense)  investments
FEWA/ REATHE
FRR B2y (XH)SRBE SINGERE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
2020 2020
Cash and cash equivalents RekAeEE 2,000,472 +50 £10,002 -
Amounts due to brokers e 4 ASVR 4,659,540 150 +23,298 -
2019 20194
Cash and cash equivalents RekRe%E 403,338 +50 +2,017 -
Amount due to brokers R AT 8,718,501 £50 +43,593 -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 29. BIERMEEREEREE ()

158

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars. Since
the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar, the
Board of Directors considers the Company’s exposure to foreign
currency risk to be minimal; as such no sensitivity analysis has been
presented in these financial statements.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument
will cause a financial loss for the Company by failing to discharge an
obligation. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is monitored by the
Investment Manager on an ongoing basis.

The Company is exposed to credit risk on its cash and cash
equivalents, promissory notes and investments placed with DBS
Bank Limited, Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited and Bank of
Communication Trustee Limited, which management believes is of
high credit quality.

The credit risk on amounts due from brokers is limited because most
of the receivable amounts are from the investments sold which will
be settled shortly after trade date.

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event the
counterparties fail to perform their obligations without taking into
account of any collateral held as at the reporting date in relation to
each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
those assets as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

Capital management

As a result of the ability to issue and repurchase shares, the capital of
the Company can vary depending on subscriptions to the Company
and repurchases by the Company. The primary objectives of the
Company’s capital management are to safeguard the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern and to invest the capital in
investments meeting the description and risk exposure indicated
in the Company’s prospectus. The Investment Manager manages
the capital of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
investment objectives and policies. The Company is not subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.
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31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

30. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 30. MEHREIR
There is no significant event after the reporting period. R ERESEEETAEREN -
31. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 31. LEEBEF
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the ETHEEFTETFEHNSE  UFEAE
current year’s presentation. FEMZEIN TR -

32. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 32. BIE RV E

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by A BMETEN2021F3 290 EE S
the Board of Directors on 29 March 2021. g R EET -
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Summary of Financial Information

BRI E

31 December 2020 2020512 A31H

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Company ARFZAAEATRFEEz EEREENAEB
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited 2 (B TR EEXME®RE) ST
financial statements is set out below:

RESULTS e

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
BZ20208  HZE2019%  EHZ2018F  HZE017F  HE20165
128310 128318 12A31H 12A318 12A318
EEE tFE LFE LtFE tFE
HKS$ HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT B B B
REVENUE WA 3,417,096 5,447,693 9,403,558 821,073 2,470,078
(LOSSY/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BEiR(BE)/ &F (31,106,691)  (34,070,940)  (92,959,437)  (509,376,596) 57,041,138
Income Tax FIieH - - - (1,361,062) (9,167,538)
(LOSS)/PROFIT AND TOTAL ARaE@EaBaA
COMPREHENSIVE (LOSSYINCOME FEEER (BR)/EF R
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO 2H(ER) WEpE
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY (31,106,691)  (34,070,940)  (92,959,437)  (510,737,658) 47,873,600
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020 F 20194 20184 20174 20165
HKS HK HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
TOTAL ASSETS EERE 77,610,666 72,072,506 91,686,300 192,596,874 716,278,353
TOTAL LIABILITIES BERLTE (6,497,953)  (10,631,106)  (18,529,266)  (74,417,198)  (248,404,588)

71,112,713 61,441,400 73,167,034 118,179,676 467,873,765
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